
SCRUTINY : SOCIAL 
SERVICES MEETING
3.00 pm TUESDAY, 28TH JUNE, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet 
as it will only be used for training purposes by the

Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering 
the Chamber and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public 

are consenting to being filmed.

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 
(01685) 725203 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members of this Committee are reminded of their 
personal responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s 
Constitution and the Members Code of Conduct.   
In addition, Members must declare any prohibited 
party whip which the Member has been given in 
relation to the meeting as per the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2011.  

Note:

a. Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest; and 

b. Where Members withdraw from a meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave. 

3. Annual Report on Social Services 2015/2016 
See attached report (Pages 1 - 32)

4. Performance Report - Corporate Plan Priority Area 
2: Promoting Independence 
See attached report (Pages 33 - 56)

5. Performance Report - Corporate Plan Priority Area 
3: Meeting the needs of vulnerable children 
See attached report (Pages 57 - 70)

6. Performance Report - Corporate Plan Priority Area 
4: Active lifestyles 
See attached report (Pages 71 - 90)

7. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 
To receive any referrals from the other Scrutiny 
Committees and Audit Committee; an update from 
the Chair on their attendance at the Service 
Performance Challenge Meetings and to consider 
any follow up actions from the previous 
Meeting(s).

8. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair.



9. Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 
To receive updates as appropriate. 

10. Forward Work Programme 
See attached report. (Pages 91 - 104)

11. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillor W R Smith (Chair)

Councillors: D Davies, R Braithwaite, A Jones, T Lewis, 
B E Mansbridge and J McCarthy

Co-optee(s): B Lewis

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725203

Os byddai’n well gennych gopi o’r agenda hwn mewn iaith arall, cysylltwch a 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01685 725203

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk
mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

ANNUAL REPORT ON SOCIAL SERVICES 2015 / 
2016  

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report is for information purposes and is intended to provide Scrutiny Committee 
Members with an overview of the key messages set out in the ‘Annual Report on 
Social Services 2015 / 2016’ and activity that led to its development. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 Scrutiny Committee Members note the contents of the report.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Local Authority is required to report annually to Welsh Government on 
performance across its Social Services.     

3.2 The Chief Officer (Social Services) in her role as Statutory Director of Social 
Services is responsible for publishing an annual report on performance and the 
effectiveness of social care services across the County Borough.  The attached 
report (Annual Report on Social Services 2015 / 2016) has been produced in 
accordance with the Annual Council Reporting Framework (ACRF) and is intended 
to provide an overview of our performance for the period April 2015 to March 2016; 
highlighting what we are doing well, areas for improvement and our priorities for the 
year ahead (2016 / 2017).

Date Written 31st May 2016
Report Author Lisa Curtis-Jones / Anne Powell
Service Area Social Services
Committee Date 28th June 2016

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



3.3 In April 2016 we saw the implementation of the Social Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Act 2014.  This is a significant piece of legislation designed to change the 
relationship between the Local Authority, its partner organisations and the public.  As 
part of the Act, a new Performance Framework has been introduced.  The new 
framework will result in a change to the data and information we collect and the way 
in which we collect it.  We will now be required to gather additional information and 
report on the difference we are making on peoples’ lives.  

4.0 THE ANNUAL COUNCIL REPORTING FRAMEWORK (ACRF) 
PROCESS

4.1 The process for delivering the ACRF and associated templates has continued to 
evolve.  We have adapted the process and templates used to ensure that as far as 
possible they complement and support the Council’s Performance Management 
Framework.    

4.2 The table below sets out the key stages of the ACRF process for 2015 / 2016.

Activity Timescale 
Development of Performance Report Cards and 
collection of underpinning documentary evidence

July 2015 to May 2016
(Updated quarterly)

Development of Draft Annual Report on Social 
Services

March 2016

Consultation Action Planning and Preparation January to March 2016
Consultation Period April 2016
Submission of Report Cards, evidence and 
supplementary documentation to Care and Social 
Services Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW)

May 2016

Development of Annual Report on Social Services 
(final version)

June 2016

Submission of report to CSSIW June 2016
Report translated and made publically available Early August 2016

4.3 Performance Report Cards

4.3.1 Performance Report Cards were used to capture a range of key information 
in relation to each strategic service area (Adult Social Services; Childrens 
Social Services; Safeguarding and Leadership). The Report Cards have 
been updated on a quarterly basis to reflect progress made against key 
service priorities and performance.  At year end, the Report Cards, together 
with supporting documentary evidence were submitted to the Care and 
Social Services Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW) for review.

4.3.2 Information collated in the Report Cards was used to inform the development 
of the Annual Report for 2015 / 2016.  

Page 2



4.4 Consultation Process 

4.4.1 Consultation is a key element of the ACRF process and provides an 
opportunity for the views and experiences of local service users, carers and 
all other key stakeholders to be reflected in the Annual Report.

4.4.2 The period of consultation took place between 4th – 30th April 2016.

4.4.3 A variety of methods were used to promote and encourage feedback on the 
Annual Report. This included: website, posters, press release, Facebook and 
Twitter etc.,. In addition to this, workshops took place with a number of service 
user groups in order to gather their views on the accuracy and accessibility of 
the Annual Report. This exercise also provided individuals with an opportunity 
to share their personal experiences of the services they have received.  The 
groups we consulted with included: National Autistic Society and the Older 
People (50+ Forum).

5.0 ANNUAL REPORT ON SOCIAL SERVICES 2015 / 2016

5.1 The Report focuses on five strategic service areas: ‘Safeguarding Vulnerable 
People’, ‘Services for Adults’, ‘Services for Children’, ‘Services for Carers’ and 
‘Managing our Business’. Each section is aimed at providing a picture of how well 
our services have performed over the last year, what we can improve on and key 
priorities for 2016 / 2017.   

5.2 Although demand for services for adults and children remain high, overall our 
performance across social services during 2015 / 2016 has remained generally good 
and in some areas have seen improvements.

5.3 Key achievements and performance during 2015 / 2016 include the following:

5.3.1 Safeguarding

 The Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) has been fully operational 
since May 2015 and has won two awards from South Wales Police for 
innovation and partnership working.

 When a child / young person is at risk of abuse; meetings, reviews and 
decisions have been carried out in a timely way; with 99.1% of meetings 
held within 15 working days and 100% of child protection reviews being 
carried out on time. 

 Although we have seen an increase in the number of adults at risk from 
abuse, in 95% of cases we have been able to manage the risk.  By this we 
mean having a plan of action in place to reduce the risk of further abuse.      

5.3.2 Adult Services

 We have worked with colleagues in Health, the Voluntary Sector and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council to improve services across 
the region through the use of the Intermediate Care Fund. We now have 

Page 3



Community Coordinators in place to support people to access services in 
the Voluntary Sector and have improved the Early Stroke Discharge 
Service.

 We have continued to work hard this year with our Health colleagues to 
help people return home from hospital as quickly as possible.  In those 
situations where we are able to influence the outcome, for example; those 
people returning to their own homes with a package of support, we are 
performing well.  In 2015 / 2016, the rate of delayed transfers of care for 
social care reasons per 1,000 population aged 75 or over was 4.73 which 
is an improvement on the previous year’s performance of 5.02 and the 
latest available Welsh average figure of 4.83.

5.3.3. Children Services

 The Enhanced Child in Need Service continues to be a success.  The 
service continues to help families make lasting change and prevent 
children from becoming looked after.

 With the implementation of our Looked After Child Prevention Strategy, 
although it is early days, we are seeing a continued reduction in the 
number of children we look after.  As at 31st March 2016, there were 141 
looked after children, compared with 163 the previous year.

 We have seen an increase in the number of children and young people 
who have met with a social worker during their assessment.  This year our 
performance was 88.6% as at 31st March 2016, compared with a 
performance of 68.1% the previous year.

 We have seen improved performance in the timescales of assessments 
being completed.  As at 31st March 2016, 73.5% of initial assessments 
were completed within 7 working days compared with a performance of 
57.2% as at 31st March 2015.  

5.3.4 Managing our Business

 We have worked in partnership with Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 
Council Social Services Department to develop a joint training service.  
The shared service became operational on 1st April 2016.

 All of the services we commission have an appropriate contract in place 
which has been reviewed in accordance with an agreed timetable.

5.4 Areas for improvement include the following:
 

5.4.1 Safeguarding

 We need to improve access to quality and timely information in respect of 
the safeguarding process.

 We will continue to encourage and help more children and young people 
take part in their child protection meetings.

 We will continue to encourage more adults who are at risk of abuse to take 
part in the meetings that talk about how they may be protected.

Page 4



5.4.2 Adult Services

 When somebody is supported by us they have an individual plan (called a 
care plan) which we agree with them.  This plan should be reviewed at 
least once a year.  Although everyone has a care plan, our performance in 
reviewing them has been in decline over the last few years.  This year we 
have seen an improvement with 81.3% of care plans reviewed compared 
with 78.9% last year.  Whilst we have seen an improvement this year, we 
still need to improve on our current performance.  Measures are in place to 
address this.    

 We have seen a further decline in the number of adult carers offered an 
assessment.  Performance as at 31st March 2016 was 66.2% compared 
with 85.4% the previous year.  Action has been taken to address this 
decline in performance.  Performance will be rigorously monitored by the 
Team Manager and Senior Practitioner on a monthly basis and reported to 
the Head of Service.  

5.4.3 Children Services

 As at 31st March 2016, 82.4% of statutory visits to looked after children 
took place in accordance with regulations (statutory timescales).  This is 
an improvement on our performance in 2014 / 2015 which was 78.8%.  
Despite this improvement, we have not met our annual target set for 2015 
/ 2016 of = or > 85% and are performing below the latest available Welsh 
average of 87.7%.  We will therefore continue our work with managers and 
practitioners to further improve on this performance.

 We need to improve the number of care leavers that we are in touch with; 
making sure that there is a plan in place for them whilst increasing the 
number who are in employment, education and training and who have a 
personal adviser.

5.4.4 Managing our Business

 Although at year end (31st March 2016) we have resolved 90% of social 
services complaints within 15 working days, we would like to improve the 
number of complaints we successfully resolve at the earliest stage (current 
performance at 31st March 2016 is 77%). 

 We need to improve on the number of financial assessments that we carry 
out within 15 working days.  Although our performance has improved 
(78%), it is still below our target figure of 95%.

5.5 Priorities for 2016 / 2017 include:

 Implementation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.
 Continuing to safeguard the most vulnerable people in our community.
 Maintaining our commitment to early intervention and prevention in all of our 

work.
 Implementation of the new Performance Framework.
 Wherever possible, make the savings that we have been asked to without 

affecting the quality of services we provide.

Page 5



5.6 Consultation Feedback

5.6.1 Despite our efforts, response to the consultation on the Annual Report was 
poor with only 6 returns received.  Whilst all feedback provided is considered 
valuable in helping us shape the report, it is important to note that comments 
received reflect the views of a very small minority of stakeholders, and 
therefore does not necessarily provide us with a true reflection of the 
quality of our service or accuracy of the report content.

 

LISA CURTIS-JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR LINDA MATTHEWS
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Annual Report on Social 
Services 2015 / 2016

ACRF Report Cards 
2015 / 2016

June 2016

May 2016

Social Services ‘O’ drive.

Social Services ‘O’ drive

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 6



 1 

People and Performance Directorate 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Annual Report on  

‘Social Services’ 

2015 / 2016 
  

This Report is available in other languages and 

formats upon request. 
 

Email:  ACRF@merthyr.gov.uk 

Telephone:  (01685) 725052 
 

www.merthyr.gov.uk/ACRF 

Page 7



 2 

Contents 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

■ Safeguarding Vulnerable People              5 -   9 

■ Services for Adults              10 - 15  

■ Services for Children              16 - 21 

■ Managing our Business             22 - 24 

 

 

 

 

 

■ Getting in touch                    25 

 

 

 

Section 1: Welcome and Introduction          3 - 4 

Section 2:   How well are our services performing and what 

 can we do better?            5 - 24 

Section 3:   Valuing your Views              25 

Page 8



 3 

 

 

As the Council’s Chief Officer (Statutory Director) of Social Services, it is part of my job to report to 

you every year on how well I think the Council’s Social Services are working.  In my report I will 

outline the following: 

 

• The performance of some of our key services; 

• Developments and challenges throughout the year; 

• Our priorities - what we will be doing over the next 12 months. 

 

We continue to face significant financial pressures and have been working hard to achieve the 

savings the Council needs whilst doing our best to ensure that the services we provide to you are not 

adversely affected.  On the whole we have managed to achieve this.  

 

April 2016 saw the implementation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act.  This is a 

significant piece of legislation designed to change the relationship between the Local Authority, its 

partner organisations and you.  We have been undertaking a great deal of work to get ready for this 

and I have made reference to this throughout the report.   

 

The Act has the following 5 main themes: 

 

• You will have a voice, be in control and make decisions about your life; 

• We will work with you to keep you well and to see when you need support; 

• We will work with you to help you to get what matters to you and is important; 

• You will be involved in how your care and support is decided and provided; 

• Everyone will work together to help you to live the life you choose for longer. 

 

This will mean that whichever type of care and support you need, we start by asking what is it about 

your relationship, community and life that matters to you and we will focus on your well-being and 

quality of life. 

 

As part of the new Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act, from April 2016, the information we 

collect and the way in which we collect it will change.  We will now be required to gather additional 

information and report on the difference we are making on peoples’ lives.   

 

Although the demand for services for adults and children remains high, overall our performance 

across social services during 2015 / 2016 has remained generally good.  This is due to the hard work 

and commitment of our staff who take pride in serving their local community. 

 

Our work across the region to improve services using the Intermediate Care Fund has continued this 

year.  We now have the Community Coordinators in place to support people to access services in the 

Voluntary Sector and improved Early Stroke Discharge Service.  The Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 

(MASH) has now been operating for 12 months and has received Awards for its performance.  We 

continue to work regionally when commissioning broad ranging services.  We have jointly produced 

a regional Commissioning Statement and we are currently tendering for a regional Home Care 

Service.  

 

 

 

 

Section 1: Welcome and Introduction    

Page 9



 4 

Our social workers and family support workers face increasingly complex and challenging situations 

as they go about their demanding work safeguarding young people and seeking opportunities to 

promote excellent outcomes.  With the implementation of our Looked After Child Prevention 

Strategy, although it is early days, we are seeing a reduction in the number of children we look after.   

The Enhanced Child in Need Service continues to be a success and in 2015 moved to a new base 

which offers more space and better facilities for families. 

 

Like all other Councils in Wales we continue to face the need to reduce the amount of money we 

spend.  However, it is important to recognise that the Council has an ongoing commitment to 

provide additional resources where absolutely necessary in order to meet the needs of the most 

vulnerable.  Every effort has been made to ensure that our services can continue to work effectively, 

meet the needs of the most vulnerable in our community, balanced alongside the commitment to 

supporting services that help people at an early stage and stop things becoming worse.    

 

Priorities for this year.  
 

Our priorities for the next year include: 
 

• Implementation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act; 

• Continuing to safeguard the most vulnerable people in our community; 

• Maintaining our commitment to early intervention and prevention in all of our work; 

• Implementation of the new Performance Measures Framework; 

• Wherever possible, make the savings that we have been asked to without affecting the quality of 

services we provide. 

 

Please see the other sections of my report for further examples of what we intend doing over the 

next 12 months. 

 

Finally, I would like to offer my personal thanks to all the dedicated staff who work very hard to 

meet the needs of the most vulnerable in our community. 

 

 
 

 

Mrs. Lisa Curtis-Jones 

Chief Officer (Social Services) - Statutory Director of Social Services 

Page 10



 5 

 

 

 

Safeguarding Vulnerable People  
 

All children, young people and vulnerable adults have 

the right to be safe, happy, and healthy; and deserve 

protection from abuse.  

 

Safeguarding refers to those who may be vulnerable.  

This can include: 

 

 

• Children under the age of 18; 

• People with physical, visual, hearing or learning disability; 

• People who experience poor mental health;  

• The elderly, frail or ill; 

• Those who are living in a household affected by domestic abuse. 

 

During the last year we have been successful in safeguarding vulnerable people.  We have continued 

to work closely with our colleagues across the Council and partner agencies to make sure that: 

 

• When we take on new staff in the Council, they are safe to work with vulnerable people; 

• Employees, Councillors, schools and our partners have continued to receive the training they 

need to spot signs of abuse and know what action they should take; 

• We regularly review how well we are performing to make sure that the quality of our practice 

continues to be of a good standard; 

• We listen to the views of vulnerable people and their families.  This has continued to help us 

improve the way we work and the quality of the support we provide. 

 

Together with our partners, we have set up a Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) for both Adult 

and Child Protection. Before the MASH, this work was done by each agency individually and shared 

where necessary.  Now all of these people are based in the same place and can share information 

straight away. This means that we are able to improve our ability to co-ordinate, protect and support 

vulnerable people who are at risk of abuse.   The MASH has been fully operational since May 2015 

and has won two awards from South Wales Police for innovation and partnership working.  As the 

MASH is a year old, partner agencies have agreed to undertake a review to ensure that we continue 

to improve performance and safeguard children and adults.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Section 2:   How well are our services performing and  

   what can we do better?   

Did you know? 
 

Cwm Taf have a Safeguarding Children and Adults Board which is a multi-agency partnership that 

has responsibility for safeguarding children and adults in Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf.  

The Board monitors how well agencies safeguard adults and children from abuse and neglect.  

The Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board has launched a website www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org   

The website contains information on the range of safeguarding issues affecting children and 

adults and importantly, how to spot the warning signs and seek further support.    

Page 11



 6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

During the past 4 years, the number of children’s names added to the Child Protection Register in 

Merthyr Tydfil has been high compared with other Welsh Authorities.  This is thought to be due to a 

number of reasons, including: high rates of domestic abuse, the number of parents who are affected 

by issues like substance misuse, alcohol misuse and poor mental health. As at 31st March 2016, we 

had 103 children and young people on the ‘Child Protection Register’.  This is slightly lower than the 

same period the previous year (104 children).  Our aim is to work with families at an early stage to 

prevent things getting worse and reduce risk and support young people.  We ensure when Children’s 

names are added to the Register, their names are not removed until there has been sufficient 

change to reduce the risk and that the changes will stand the test of time. 

   

When there is a concern that a child or young person may be at risk of abuse or neglect, we are 

required to hold a meeting with all concerned within 15 working days.  This is so that we can decide 

what help is required and to put a plan in place to protect the child.  Every year since 2010 our 

performance has improved.  We have however seen a slight dip in performance this year with 99.1% 

of conferences held within timescales.  It is important to note that this only relates to one 

conference which did not take place on time and performance is still good.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Did you know? 
 

The ‘Child Protection Register’ is a confidential list of names of children and young people across 

the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough who are at risk from abuse or neglect.  The register is kept by 

the Safeguarding Unit in social services and there is a multi-agency plan of protection for each 

child whose name is added to the Child Protection Register. 

Our performance over the last 5 years 

 

 

2015 / 2016  

 

 

Page 12



 7 

In order to make sure the children and young people we look after feel safe and secure, we ask them 

how they feel about where they live and the people they live with.  They have told us that on the 

whole they felt happy, settled, well cared for and supported in their placement.  Where young told 

us they were not happy, this was most often due to the arrangements for seeing family and friends, 

or where there had been changes to where they lived.  We are working to improve this and make 

sure that all looked after children and young people have help and support to develop and 

understand their plan for the future.  Where young people say they would like an independent 

person to help them make decisions and plans, the Council provides an independent advocate.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council in conjunction with the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Children Board 

has undertaken extensive work to address the issues associated with Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

and the findings of the Casey report into Rotherham.  A multi-agency CSE strategy and action plan is 

in place to ensure that the Council takes steps to safeguard children at risk from exploitation within 

our area.   

 

The Council has also implemented a Corporate Safeguarding Policy to ensure that all Council 

employees are aware of their safeguarding responsibilities. A corporate safeguarding reference 

group has been developed; they are responsible for ensuring that any corporate safeguarding plans 

are implemented.   

 

The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act came into force on April 6
th

 2016. This Act strengthens 

the duties placed on the Local Authority for safeguarding; particularly vulnerable adults.  

These changes to legislation are welcomed by the Council and we will monitor the impact of this in 

relation to our safeguarding practice. Due to an increased workload, the Council has increased the 

number of staff who work in the Adults at Risk section of the Safeguarding Unit.    

 

Despite having a higher number of cases to deal with, we have been able to put a plan in place to 

help reduce the risk of further abuse in 95% (76 out of 80) cases.  This means that we have been able 

to protect and support adults at risk effectively and is evidence of good practice, however; we strive 

to reach 100%. 

 
 
 
 
 

Did you know? 
 

Child Sexual Exploitation is abuse.  It can take the form of children and young people being 

drawn into sexual relationships with adults who use a variety of methods such as giving gifts, 

cigarettes, affection, drugs, money etc.,.  Whichever way this starts and however the child / 

young person feels about it – it always ends badly.  Child sexual exploitation can occur through 

the use of the internet or on mobile phones. In all cases, those exploiting the child or young 

person have power over them for example because of their age, gender, physical strength etc. 

For those who are abused, the pain of their ordeal and fear that they will not be believed means 

they are often too scared to come forward. 
 

If you are a child or young person who needs help please call Childline on 0800 11 11. 
 

If you are an adult who suspects that this is going on you must call the Police. 

 

Page 13



 8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In response to Operation Jasmine ‘In Search of Accountability’ which was a national review into the 

neglect of older people living in some care homes; the Adult Safeguarding Board held a multi-agency 

workshop with participants including practitioners and managers involved in the care of older 

people, as well as adult and carer representatives. We focused on four areas considering: ‘What does 

good Care look like’, ‘How do we respond to Concerns’, ‘How do we provide assurance on the Quality 

of Care’ and ‘How can we support Care Home Residents who have no visitors’. The workshop was 

well received and the learning that we have taken from this has been implemented in our 

safeguarding practice.   

 

Our Performance – What are we doing well? 
   

• When a child / young person is at risk of abuse; meetings, reviews and decisions have been 

carried out in a timely way; with 99.1% of meetings held within 15 working days and 100% of 

child protection reviews being carried out on time;   

• Although we have seen an increase in the number of adults at risk from abuse; at 31st March 

2016, in 95% of cases we have been able to manage the risk.  By this we mean having a plan of 

action in place to reduce the risk of further abuse.  Our performance is slightly lower than the 

same period last year (97.1%), however; our performance this year is still good;    

• The quality of practice by all those involved in protecting vulnerable children and adults is 

regularly reviewed and reported on to the Council.  This ensures that examples of good practice 

are shared and practice is improved. 

 

What could we do better? 
  

• Improved access to quality and timely information in respect of the safeguarding process;  

• Continue to encourage and help more children and young people to take part in their child 

protection meetings; 

• Continue to encourage more adults who are at risk of abuse to take part in the meetings that talk 

about how they may be protected.   

 

What else do we need to do during 2016 / 2017? 
 

Listed below are a few examples of what we intend to do over the next 12 months in this area:  
 

• We will continue to regularly monitor the quality of practice and work hard to improve our 

performance in the areas where we are not doing so well and make sure that where our 

performance is good it stays that way; 

 

Did you know? 
 

The Council meets with Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW), relevant partners 

and managers / owners of homes where there are concerns about the quality of care.  The 

purpose of the meetings is to share information and put together an action plan to ensure that 

the quality of care improves for the residents.  This is known as provider performance and aims 

to prevent home closures due to poor practice.   

Page 14



 9 

• We will continue to provide relevant training and support to colleagues in other areas of the 

Council to ensure that they fully understand their role in safeguarding vulnerable people in our 

community and share any concerns they have with the Safeguarding Unit for further 

consideration and action; 

• We will ensure that all staff are trained in regards to their safeguarding responsibilities under the  

Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act; 

• We will implement the recommendations of the review of the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub for 

both children and adults;   

• We will ensure that the recommendations from ‘In Search of Accountability’ are implemented 

and reviewed;  

• We will ensure that children and young people who are affected by child sexual exploitation are 

listened to and that we work effectively with partners and families to challenge those that 

commit this offence; 

• We will continue to work with families at an early stage to support and prevent their 

circumstances from deteriorating further. 

 

Page 15



 10 

 

Services for Adults  
 

In Merthyr Tydfil we have continued to work 

closely with all of our partners to develop and 

improve the services we provide to you so 

that, where possible, you can continue to live 

independently and safely within your 

community.    

 

For example, this includes:   

 

 

 

 

• Providing you with the information, advice and assistance you need to help you live as 

independently as possible; 

• Providing you with a direct payment so that you are free to arrange your own care in a way and 

at a time to suit you or, arranging for someone to help with your personal care needs;  

• Making sure that if you have been in hospital that you get the support you need, when you need 

it to return home; 

• Promoting your independence by giving you the confidence to manage day-to-day personal and 

practical tasks around your home; 

• If you can no longer live in your own home, to help you and your family find a suitable 

alternative; 

• Support you as a Carer to ensure that you can continue your caring role; 

• Ensuring that our most vulnerable people are protected from exploitation and harm. 

 

In preparation for the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 we have been looking at ways 

to improve how we provide you with information, advice and assistance.  This means that you will 

have access to better information about what is happening in your local community, clear advice 

about the support available to you and timely access to the support you need.  Later in 2016, we will 

be asking those people who have received a service their opinion on how this has worked and we 

will publish the results. 

 

The new Act has placed a duty on the Council and its partners to develop a range of services that will 

prevent or delay the need for care and support.  This will mean that we will continue to see more 

people receiving support at home and within their local community. The Social Services 

Department’s job will be to continue to provide support to those people who have the highest levels 

of need.  This includes vulnerable older people, people with disabilities, a mental illness and people 

who are not able to do things for themselves without support.    

 

This year we have continued to be successful in helping people to live in their community for longer. 

We have done this by making sure that the services we commission are flexible and rigorously 

monitored to make sure that they are of good quality.  We have continued to work with people at an 

early stage in order that they can regain their confidence and ability to undertake the tasks of daily 

living.  This has meant around 58% fewer people needing services in the longer term.   Please see 

below some of the comments we have received about this. 

 

Page 16



 11 

What you have told us!   
 

We asked you if you have benefitted from the Reablement programme.  These are some of the 

things you told us: 
  

• “I can now get out of bed with more ease and walk with more ease.” 

• “I have achieved what I wanted to.” 

• “I would have liked to have a little bit longer.” 

• “Yes, I have improved enormously from the Reablement programme” 

• “It gave me confidence to do daily tasks safely” 

• “I don’t believe I would be walking as well without their input” 

• “The person who came here was very helpful and provided us with suggestions of equipment we 

could use to help me in my role as a carer and my husband to manage getting in and out of the 

bath, up the stairs, getting in and out of the house. This has made a difference to us”. 

 

When we asked if you feel you have achieved your goals - this is what you told us: 
 

•  “I Achieved a lot more” 

• “Made me feel more confident in transferring.” 

• “I know feel confident to make a cup of tea.” 

• “No, not quite, it was cut short because I had a flare up of gout” 

• “Yes, although it is still necessary to carry on with the exercise programme” 

• “Yes, I am more confident in normal activities” 
 

The new Act will make it easier for people to use direct payments to pay for a much wider range of 

services they may need.  The number of people using direct payments has been steadily increasing 

and we expect to see this continue in future years.  As at 31
st

 March 2016, there were 122 people 

receiving direct payments, of which, 68 were adults.  Not everybody wants to use direct payments as 

a way of receiving services.  If you would prefer not to do this, you will still be able to receive 

services that we commission and organise on your behalf.  As of 31
st

 March 2016, we were 

supporting 1731 people in this way.    
 

We have continued to work hard this year with our Health colleagues to help people return home 

from hospital as quickly as possible.  For those people returning to their own homes with a package 

of support, we are performing well.  This is due to the hard work of our Initial Response and 

Reablement Teams who help people develop their confidence so that they can regain their 

independence.  Where there have been delayed discharges, these have been due to people who 

have very special needs, requiring specialist accommodation and support – which is not always 

available quickly enough.  We have also seen a reduction in the availability of nursing homes across 

the region which has impacted on this.  
 

We have worked with colleagues in health, the voluntary sector and Rhondda Cynon Taf County 

Borough Council to improve services across the region through the use of the Intermediate Care 

Fund. This includes the use of Community Coordinators to support people to access services run by 

the voluntary sector, and worked together to increase voluntary services in the area. We have also 

worked together to develop services that support people to return home from hospital sooner such 

as the Early Stroke Discharge service and increased the services that help people to be more 

independent. We have also adapted several properties across Cwm Taf to provide a short term home 

for people who are waiting for adaptations to their own home.   

 

 

Page 17



 12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We are working with our partners across the Cwm Taf Region to deliver on the Older People 

Commissioner’s requirements for action for care homes. In support of this we have developed a 

quality assurance toolkit which includes routine consultation with service users and their families.  In 

addition to this we are responsible for undertaking our own inspections of care homes in our area 

which includes speaking to residents, their families and staff.  Comments received are used to help 

us continue to improve the local services and make sure that they are delivered to the highest 

standards.   
 

What you have told us!    
 

 

This is some of the feedback we have received about our residential homes: 
 

•  “I would like to remain here for the rest of my life, because I feel this is now my home and I like 

all the people in here.” 

• “All the staff are really friendly, kind and helpful.  Nothing is too much trouble for them; they will 

do anything for you”. 

• “I feel they have increased my confidence when dealing with the world.” 

• “I am very pleased with my relatives care, thank you very very much”. 
 

There are times however when we can no longer support you to live safely in your own home.  If this 

happens, we will work closely with you and you family / carer to find the best possible alternative. 

This doesn’t automatically mean that you would live in a residential home.  There are a range of 

alternative options that you could consider.  These include: 
 

• Sheltered Accommodation - There are 415 units of sheltered accommodation across the County 

Borough. All the sheltered accommodation in Merthyr Tydfil is provided by a Housing 

Association.  
 

• Extra Care - If you live in Extra Care, you have your 

own apartment with your own front door. You can 

decide who comes into your home and who doesn’t. 

There is 24/7 care and support available on site if 

needed to help you stay in the community for 

longer. Extra Care is a real choice for people who 

cannot stay in their homes because their needs have 

changed.  
 

• Shared Lives Scheme - The shared lives scheme 

supports vulnerable adults to live with carers for either a short term break or on a permanent 

basis. Placements are tailored to the individual and enable them to receive support to live more 

independent lives. 

 

Did you know?  
 

There is a Commissioner for Older People who undertook a review of residential and nursing 

homes called ‘A Place Called Home’.  Each local authority and Health Board have produced an 

action plan to improve the quality of life and care to older people living in care homes in Wales. 
 

The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales is an independent voice and champion for older 

people across Wales    
 

Page 18



 13 

As part of our work to continually improve services, we changed the arrangements for two of our 

learning disability residential group homes.  This meant that the people living within the two homes 

are now able to enjoy a much more independent lifestyle where the care and support is tailored to 

flexibly meet their needs.   

 

The Community Mental Health Team (CMHT) is a joint team with Health based in Kier Hardie Health 

Park and is co-located with the Psychiatry of Old Age Team, the Outreach and Recovery Community 

Drug and Alcohol Team and Primary Mental Health Service.  As part of the work of the CMHT, we 

have to make sure that there are individual plans in place for at least 90% of the people we work 

with.  We are pleased to report that we are at 99% for this measure. 

 

The Psychiatry of Old Age Team work with people who have dementia.  The aim of the team is to 

maintain people’s independence for as long as possible. The team’s philosophy is to promote 

people’s strengths to enable them to remain living at home within their own communities. The 

Psychiatry of Old Age Team has close links with the Alzheimer’s Society and day care providers.  They 

also utilise equipment such as telecare and lifeline to ensure people’s health and well-being is 

maintained.  We also support carers who play a vital role in providing care and support. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Having the opportunity to discuss your needs as a carer is important.  If you come to Social Services 

for information, advice and assistance; we will firstly speak with you about what is going well and 

where you may need support to do the things you want.  By having this conversation this will help us 

provide you with the right information, advice and support you need to carry out your role.  Last 

year we reported a drop in performance in offering adult carers an assessment. This trend has 

continued into 2015 / 2016 with 66.2% of carers offered an assessment as at 31
st

 March 2016.  This 

reduction in performance was due to significant staffing difficulties during the year, however; 

despite this we have seen an increase in the uptake of services by carers.  At 31
st

 March 2016, 85.1% 

of carers who were assessed were provided with a service.  This performance is good and an 

improvement on last year (69%).  

 

Overall, we believe our progress and performance this year has again been reasonably good with 

some areas for further improvement. Examples of what we are doing well and what we need to do 

better are listed below. 

 

Our Performance – What are we doing well? 

 
• We have continued to work hard this year with our Health colleagues to help people return 

home from hospital as quickly as possible.  In those situations where we are able to influence the 

outcome, for example; those people returning to their own homes with a package of support, we 

are performing well.  This is due to the hard work of our Initial Response and Reablement Teams.   

 

 

Did you know?  
 

Over the last year Social Workers and Community Psychiatric Nurses have begun a number of 

new courses and group work sessions for people with a mental illness.  Courses included: Hearing 

Voices, Mindfulness, Try This First, a Sexual Abuse Survivors group, Creative Writing and a 

Swimming group. 

 

Page 19



 14 

Where there have been delayed discharges, these have been due to people who have very special 

needs, requiring specialist accommodation and support – which is not always available quickly 

enough and we have also seen a reduction in the availability of nursing homes across the region 

which has impacted on this.  This has meant our performance as at 31
st

 March 2016 of 4.73 is an 

improvement on our performance of 5.02 for the same period last year.   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What could we do better? 
 

• When somebody is supported by us they have an individual plan (called a care plan) which we 

agree with them.  This plan should be reviewed at least once a year.  Although everyone has a 

care plan, our performance in reviewing them has been in decline over the last few years.  This 

year we have seen an improvement in our performance.  As of 31
st

 March 2016, 81.3% of our 

care plans had been reviewed compared with 77.4% the previous year.  Whilst we have seen an 

improvement in our performance, we would still like to do better;   

• As mentioned above, we have seen a further decline in the number of adult carers offered an 

assessment.   

 

Arrangements have now been put in place to address the two areas above where our performance 

needs to improve.    

 

 

What else do we need to do during 2016 / 2017? 
 

We will continue to face many challenges, such as the ongoing financial pressures faced by the local 

authority and the ongoing implementation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014; 

this also brings about the opportunity for us to further develop and improve our services.  Together 

with our partners, we will continue to work hard to make sure that you get the best possible service 

we can provide.   

 

 

 

 

 

Our performance over the last 5 years 

 

 

2015 / 2016  

 

 

Page 20



 15 

Over the next 12 months:  
 

• Wherever possible we will continue to work across the region with our partners in Cwm Taf 

University Health Board and Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council and the Third Sector to 

support you achieve the outcomes you want; 

• Along with all local authorities in Wales, we will be required to report on new performance 

measures, some of which will require us to ask you directly what your views are in relation to 

what is important to you.  This means our performance and your views can be compared with all 

other local authorities in Wales in a much simpler way; 

• Along with all other Councils’ we will have to continue to make savings and this will mean as 

times goes on you are likely to see this impact on the services we provide and the way we 

provide them;   

• We are going to be working much closer with Health colleagues to further improve our 

reablement and hospital discharge processes to ensure that if you need to go to hospital you are 

able to return home with the support you need as quickly as possible; 

• We will be reviewing our arrangements for providing day services to ensure that wherever 

possible these services are community based. 

 

  

Page 21



 16 

 

Services for Children 
 

Children’s Social Services is made up of a wide range 

of teams.  We work with a number of partners, some 

of which include Cwm Taf University Health Board, 

Police and Education. We work together to make 

sure that all children and young people are kept 

safe, healthy and given every opportunity to grow 

and develop into independent adults.  Increasingly 

we are working with the voluntary sector as we 

develop our prevention work. 

 

 

Supporting families to safeguard children and young people is one of the greatest responsibilities 

that we have and where it is necessary we will continue to look after young people to make them 

safe. Our social workers and family support workers face increasingly complex and challenging 

situations as they go about their demanding work safeguarding young people and seeking 

opportunities to promote excellent outcomes.  We are rightfully proud of our workforce and the 

results they achieve. 

 

The work that we do in children’s services also focuses on improving outcomes for children, young 

people and their families.   

 

Over the last year we have worked hard to prepare for the requirements of the Social Services and 

Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  We have done this by: 

 

• Focusing on providing support to families at an early stage (prevention); 

• Working with partners at the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Board Hub (MASH) to make sure we 

safeguard those who are at risk of harm; 

• Making sure that we listen to family members and work in an outcome focused way  so we 

reduce the amount of time we are involved with families; 

• Making changes to the way we work so that we continue to help you identify your well-being 

outcomes and assist you to achieve them; 

• Improving the way we organise and plan our services by being clear about what we want to 

achieve and involving our staff in this. We have also looked for opportunities to listen to the 

public and people who use our services about our plans. We will continue this work during the 

year ahead. 

 

Our first year of operating the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub has gone well and as stated in the 

‘Safeguarding’ section of this report we will be reviewing how well this has gone. 

 

Providing support to families at an early stage (prevention) continues to be a priority and we have 

begun to see some success in this.  As at the 31
st

 March 2016 we now have 22 fewer children who 

are looked after (in care) than we did at the same point last year. We have achieved this through 

working differently with families to ensure that children can remain at home where that is safe.  

  

 

 

Page 22



 17 

We have also worked harder with extended families so that they may provide a safe alternative 

placement when it is not possible for a child to remain at home; and in some cases children have 

returned home. This work will continue and has been written up into a Looked After Child 

Prevention Strategy to help keep us on target.  

 

Another preventative service is the ‘Enhanced Children in Need’ Service which has been in place now 

for over two years. The service continues to help families make lasting change and prevent children 

from becoming looked after.  The service is based in the Merthyr Tydfil Family Centre and provides a 

wide range of support to children, young people and their families. The service works with a specific 

number of children at any given time which allows the social worker to work closely with families 

and support them within their community.  The service works with families in a way that helps make 

changes to their lives that will keep children safe for their entire childhood.  The service has achieved 

particular success in cases where the concerns are serious and we have seen evidence that we have 

been able to avoid a child becoming looked after as a result. 

 

The Family Centre also provides other services that work with either individuals or the whole family 

to help them keep children safe from neglect and abuse; including child sexual exploitation.  

 

During the year the Family Centre has expanded its work to include Family Group Conferences.  This 

way of working helps families find their own solutions.  Family Centre staff has also carried out work 

which enables young people who are at risk of sexual exploitation or alcohol and drug misuse to 

increase their safety and reduce risks. This service is performing well. 

 

Overall children, young people and their families have told us that they have found the support of 

the Family Centre helpful in improving their knowledge, skills and ability to be a good parent.  

Parents have also reported that they feel very much included in the process. This was confirmed by 

the work of the Care and social services inspectorate who visited the service during the year. Some 

family comments and feedback is included below: 

 

What you have told us!    
 

 

• “It helped me to identify the difference of a healthy relationship and not so healthy relationships” 

• “Feel  a more confident person” 

• Before working with the staff at the family centre: “I didn’t think there would be any benefit to 

attending. Why do I need to go? Not happy everyone knowing what’s going on”.  After working 

with the family centre staff:  “Found it more helpful to understand their actions and can say they 

have turned their life around. Thank you for not judging me. Course is brilliant – should be more 

early before things hit rock bottom” 

• “I realized I am not alone. No-one judges each other. Needed this to move on from my past” 

• “It has helped me understand more about my baby “Did not have much trust in SSD – have now. I 

am in a better place now” 

• “My kids are more confident now.  Didn’t want the work, but glad allowed it now” 

 

When the Care and Social Services Inspectorate came to visit the Enhanced Child in Need Services, 

they reported that: A service user ….greatly valued the belief in her shown by her social worker. She 

saw this as the difference the service had made in helping her to make progress in her parenting 

abilities. 

 

 

Page 23



 18 

The work being completed at the Merthyr Tydfil Family Centre is helping us to make sure that our 

work is in line with the expectations of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act.  

 

The Intensive Family Support Service is also preventative service that provides specialist support to 

families affected by parental drug and or alcohol misuse. Recent research tells us that the families 

who work with this service are often able to make changes that mean children are no longer at risk, 

and that those changes are lasting.  Over the next year, the Intensive Family Support Service will 

increase the services they provide to include working with families where there are concerns of 

domestic abuse. We will ask the service to work with as many Merthyr Tydfil families as possible. 

 

At the moment, we are currently supporting 84 children and young people with a disability.  We 

work together with our partners, children and their families to ensure that children with disabilities 

have access to the right advice, support and services so that they have the same opportunities as all 

other children and young people across Merthyr Tydfil.  We have been told by the families we work 

with that arrangements we have to support young disabled people who are becoming more 

independent and moving into adulthood are good.   

 

Barnardos are funded by us to provide a service to Young Carers in our area.  The support provided 

to young carers is good.  During the year, 96% (27 out of 28) of young carers known to social services 

were assessed and of these 92.9% (26 young carers) were provided with a service.  This is a 

significant improvement in our performance on the previous year.    

 

The Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf Youth 

Offending Services joined up to provide one 

service across both areas (Cwm Taf area).  The 

Youth Offending Service is made up of a number 

of organisations who work together to help young 

people that may have been in trouble with the 

law. The service provides the young person (and 

their family) with the support they need to change 

their lives for the better and help them to stay 

away from crime or anti-social behaviour.  Overall, 

performance in this area is generally good.  The 

number of young people coming into the service for the first time is low.  We have also continued 

our success in reducing the number of young people who go on to have a custodial sentence – for 

example; in 2009 / 2010 the number of young people having a custodial sentence in Merthyr Tydfil 

was 32, by the end of last year this had reduced to 6 young people and this year only 1 young person 

received a custodial sentence.   

 

This result shows us that prevention is having a real impact on young people’s lives. When we looked 

at the re-offending rates we found that a small number of young people are involved in a high 

number of crimes. This tells us we need to work with those young people who present the greatest 

challenges.  

 

The Permanence Service has continued to support the Looked After Children and Care Leavers 

participation group known as ‘The Rainbows’.  We will make sure that through this group the voice 

of looked after children and care leavers are heard and they have the power to influence changes to 

the things that affect their lives.  

 

 

Page 24



 19 

This includes making sure that the Council’s Corporate Parenting Board takes a lead from looked 

after young people. 

 

Merthyr Tydfil Foster Carers play a very important role by providing children and young people with 

a home, stability and a place in the community. As far as possible we try to identify a foster 

placement that will best meet the child or young person’s needs to ensure that they settle well. 

Wherever possible we avoid changes of school for young people. 

 

During 2015 / 2016, the number of children or young people who have experienced three or more 

moves has remained low with only 13 children or young people being affected.  Some of the moves 

were planned and for positive reasons, such as the child or young person going to live with family 

members, being adopted, or moving to long term carers following their permanence plan being 

finalised. The young people who have moved more than three times in one year are a very small 

percentage of our looked after population (9.2%); which is in line with the latest available Welsh 

average figure of 9%. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

During 2015 / 2016 we have assessed and approved 7 new Foster Carers, including new Emergency 

Carers following the retirement of our previous emergency provision and 4 Relative Carers. There 

have also been 13 examples of relative Foster Carers being given a Court Order to provide a safe 

home for young people, which means that that those young people are no longer looked after by the 

Local Authority. We have 6 ongoing mainstream carers assessments and 4 kinship carer assessments. 

 

The Council has a duty to provide advice and support to young people leaving care until they reach 

21 years of age; unless they are in higher education and then it is 25.  At the moment we have 2 

young people attending universities across the UK.  We work together with young people and our 

partners to provide information, advice and support on things such as education and training, 

independent living skills, getting a job, where to live or budgeting.   

 

We also help young care leavers to work out their plan for the future and at present 98.6% of our 

young care leavers have a plan of this kind.  

 

We also measure the number of care leavers who we are in contact with. As of 31
st

 March 2016, we 

were in contact with 19 out of 21 (90.5%) care leavers; which is an improvement on the same period 

last year (86.7%). When we have looked closer at why we are not keeping in touch with all care 

leavers, we have found that a small number choose to have no further contact with us.  We will 

always make ourselves available to give advice to any care leaver at whatever age if they approach 

us.  

 

 

 

 

 

Did you know?  
 

Merthyr Tydfil currently has 46 approved main stream Foster Carers offering 89 beds plus 2 

‘When I am Ready’ placements and 2 carers approved for respite provision only.  We currently 

also have 10 approved kinship placements for 13 children’s or young persons. 

 

Page 25



 20 

 

During this year a manager received a letter form a care leaver who said that: 

 

‘’… I have never properly thanked you for all that you have done for me. I realise now that if it wasn’t 

for you going out of your way I wouldn’t be where I am now…..so this is me saying thank you for the 

kindness and belief you have shown in me – even the tough love! It can’t be easy doing your job but if 

you do half as much for others as you’ve done for me then I reckon you’re doing a good job. Thanks 

for everything!’  

  

Our Performance – What are we doing well? 

 
Despite the challenges we are currently facing, overall, in Children’s Services performance is good. 

 

For example; when a child or young person becomes ‘Looked After’, we make sure they go to live in 

a family where they will be happy and settled and need to put a plan in place at the start of their 

placement.  These plans must be reviewed with the child or young person at certain times – what 

they tell us about their experiences is very important.  As a result of hard work, better planning and 

improved arrangements; all of our looked after children and young people had a plan before starting 

their placement and most of the plans (99.5%) were reviewed on time and has improved in a 

number of areas.    

 

We have also made some improvements to our performance during the year. This includes: 

 

• An increase in the number of children and young people who have met with the social worker 

during their assessment;  

• Increased the frequency of social work visits to children and young people who are looked after 

• Reduced the time taken to complete assessments;  

• Increased the number of young carers who receive a service. 

 

Listed below are a few examples of what we need to do better. 
 

What could we do better? 

 
• Improve our frequency of visits to looked after children and young people;  

• Improve the numbers of care leavers we are in touch with; making sure that there is a plan in 

place for them, whilst increasing the number who are in employment, education and training and 

who have a personal adviser. 

 

What else do we need to do during 2016 / 2017? 
 

Some of the things that we need to do over the next 12 months includes:   

 

• During 2016 / 2017, we will provide information, advice and assistance service that will help 

young people and families know how to go about getting help early on before problems become 

worse. In providing this our aim is to improve families’ ability to choose the early help that they 

get; 

 

 

 

Page 26



 21 

• We will continue working with our partners to further develop the effectiveness of the Multi-

Agency Safeguarding Hub; 

• We will  look to reduce the number of repeat involvements with the same families; 

• We will increase the number of families  who work with the Enhanced Child in Need Service to 

make sure that we use every opportunity to  help families make lasting change sooner; 

• We will continue the work under the Looked After Child Prevention Strategy, making sure that  

we always consider family first and placements close to home’  

• We will recruit more Foster Carers  to make sure that there  is a sufficient number of placements  

for the types of situations and children and young people who need foster placements close to 

home’ 

• We will  continue to improve the time taken to complete the adoption process’ 

• We will listen to families to improve our understanding of ‘what good looks like’ for children, 

young people and their families.  This will help us develop clear outcomes for the children, young 

people and families we work with’ 

• We will work with partners on our Corporate Parenting Board to make sure that we are 

challenging ourselves to constantly improve the lives of looked after young people. 

Page 27



 22 

Managing our Business 
 

This section looks at some of the other 

important areas of our work that may not 

immediately spring to mind when you think of a 

social services department.  These include:  staff 

development and training; finance and charging; 

contracting; compliments and complaints. 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

In response to the requirements of Welsh Government, we have been working with our partners 

across Cwm Taf to develop a regional training unit for the implementation of the Social Services and 

Well-being (Wales) Act and our staff training requirements in general.  The new regional training 

service began its work on 1
st

 April 2016.  This will mean that our staff will have access to a wide 

range of training which will help them do their jobs better and make sure you receive the best 

service possible. 

Most of the courses we run are open to voluntary and independent sector, carers and other social 

care organisations.  Between April 2015 and March 2016 we have trained 2983 people.    
 

As of March 2016: 

• 20% Foster Carers hold a recognised qualification, 3% are currently working towards this 

qualification and 77% do not currently hold their target qualification.  It is important to note that 

the lower number of qualification holders is a result of a successful recruitment drive and Foster 

Carer turnover; 

• 94% of our residential care staff holds a recognised qualification, 2% are currently working 

towards this qualification and 4% do not currently hold their target qualification. 

 

The structure of the Contract Team has changed during the year with the Contracting and 

Procurement function moving to the Corporate Team, while the monitoring function has been 

strengthened by the addition of a Senior Monitoring Officer post. This has enabled us to extend the 

monitoring remit to include other services not previously monitored. 

 

Our Contracts/Procurement Team make sure that we are only buying services which are the best 

quality possible and offer the best value for money for the people of Merthyr Tydfil.  Currently we 

have 335 contracts in place for a wide range of commissioned services.  The Contracts Monitoring 

Team regularly visits providers to make sure the quality of the service they provide is at the highest 

standard possible. During 2015 / 2016 we have completed 954 monitoring visits to a range of 

services.  This is an increase on last year and an improvement in our performance. 

 

This year we have developed a Joint Commissioning Statement with Rhondda Cynon Taf County 

Borough Council, Cwm Taf University Health Board and the Third Sector.  This sets out how we work 

more closely together in the future when we develop services to meet local need. 

 

Page 28



 23 

This year we have also worked with Rhondda Cynon Taf Council to jointly commission home care 

services.  This new contract across Cwm Taf will begin in October 2016 and will ensure that we can 

obtain the best quality and value for money for supporting people in their own home. 

 

The Council charges for some of the services that we provide and the Finance and Charging Team 

ensure that people pay the right amount at the right time.  78% of new service users receiving 

support in the home services and 86% of people in residential care had a financial assessment on 

time. This is below our target of 95% and we are continuing to work to improve this figure.   

 

Social Services provide support to the most vulnerable people in our community; often in very 

difficult situations.  Whilst we aim to deliver effective services that make a real difference in people’s 

lives, there are times when you may not be happy with what we have done, when things don’t go 

the way you expect or when we haven’t done something we said we would.  Our Complaints Service 

is there to help you when this happens.  It is important to us that should you need to make a 

complaint about our service, you are listened to properly.  We will work with you and aim to resolve 

your complaint as quickly and effectively as possible. 

 

During 2015 / 2016 we have received 44 new complaints.  We successfully resolved 77% of these 

complaints when you first came to us with your concerns (stage one). The time taken to resolve 

stage one complaints has improved compared with the previous year.  As at 31
st

 March 2016, 90% of 

our complaints had been resolved within 15 working days – which is an improvement on the 

previous years’ performance (51%).  Whilst we do our very best to resolve complaints within 15 

working days, we sometimes need to take a little longer so that we can look into and resolve matters 

properly. 

 

Social Services adopt a positive attitude towards complaints.  We continue to learn from complaints, 

as we believe they provide us with valuable feedback on how well we are doing and what we need to 

do to develop and improve the quality of our services we provide. 

 

It is also helpful to know when we get things right.  We would like to hear from you when you have 

had a positive experience of our services and where we have made a difference in your life.  So far 

this year we have received 8 compliments about our service.   

 

The Local Authority is required to report annually to Welsh Government on performance across its 

Social Services.  We regularly and routinely monitor our performance and have effective processes in 

place to ensure this information remains as accurate and up-to-date as possible.  It is important to us 

to understand how well we are doing and how we compare with other authorities in Wales.  This 

information is essential in helping us identify the areas where we need to improve our practice, 

make changes to our services, address the things that are preventing us from achieving good 

performance and generally used to help managers in their decision making and planning.  

 

As part of the new Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act, from April 2016, the information we 

collect and the way in which we collect it will change.  We will now be required to gather additional 

information and report on the difference we are making on peoples’ lives.   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



 24 

As part of the new arrangements, if you are receiving care and support from us, you may be asked to 

complete a short questionnaire (which will be anonymous).  This will help us to understand how the 

care and support you have received has helped your well-being so that you are happy, healthy, safe 

and contented with your life and what you do. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Performance – What are we doing well? 
 

• Every year we are set national minimum qualification targets by Welsh Government for specific 

groups of staff; such as foster carers and care staff working in our residential homes.  Social care 

services within the Local Authority have performed well and exceeded these targets for some 

years;  

• This year we have been working with Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council Social Services 

Department to develop a joint training service.  This started on 1
st

 April 2016; 

• All of the services we commission have an appropriate contract in place which is reviewed in 

accordance with an agreed timetable; 

• We have reduced the time it takes to resolve your complaints successfully and when the more 

complex complaints have been independently reviewed, the original decisions have been upheld 

– which means we are making the right decision in the first instance. 

  

What could we do better? 
 

• Although we have reduced the time it takes to resolve your complaints, we would like to improve 

the number of complaints we successfully resolve at the earliest stage;    

• We need to improve on the number of financial assessments that we carry out within 15 working 

days.  Although our performance has improved, it is still below our target figure of 95%.  

 

What else do we need to do during 2016 / 2017? 
 

Some of the things that we need to do over the next 12 months include: 

 

• Implement the new charging arrangements under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act; 

• Implementation of the new Performance Measurement Framework as part of the Social Services 

and Well-being (Wales) Act; 

• Implementation of the new training arrangements across Cwm Taf. 

Did you know? 
 

Further information about the new Performance Measurement Framework and other 

information relating to the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 can be found on the 

Welsh Government website at: 
 

www.gov.wales.uk 
 

Home > Topics > Health and social care > Social services > Measuring well-being > Performance 

measurement framework for local authorities 

Page 30



 25 

 

 

 

 

 

If you would like to find out more about any of the information contained in this report, or share 

your views and experiences; then please get in touch. 

 

Getting in Touch 
 

You can contact us in the following ways: 

 

  

 

Telephone:  (01685) 725052 

 

Email:   ACRF@merthyr.gov.uk  

 

Write to:  Annual Council Reporting Framework 

   Social Services Department 

   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

   Civic Centre 

   Castle Street 

   Merthyr Tydfil 

   CF47 8AN 

 

Section 3: Valuing your Views             

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance Report – Corporate Plan
Priority Area 2 Promoting independence

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
1.1. In Merthyr Tydfil (2013), outcomes were adequate with a comparably low proportion of 

the adult population able to live independently.  This meant there was a high need for 
formal packages of social care in order to promote independence.

1.2. In Merthyr Tydfil (2015), outcomes are good with performance projecting to be in line 
with (or better than) our projections for adults who can live independently, adults in 
residential care and for the timeliness of delivering adaptations.

1.3. Our ambition is for outcomes for adults to be good by 2017.  In order to achieve good 
we need to improve peoples' ability to live independently to be in the top half of local 
authorities in Wales.

2. RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.1. The judgements and evaluations are noted and debated

2.2. Feedback and comments on the new Scrutiny Performance Report template are 

Date Written 10 June 2016

Report Author Ewan McWilliams

Service Performance

Committee Date 28 June 2016

Page 33

Agenda Item 4

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


provided on the day (appendix III)

3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

National Context
3.1. All local authorities in Wales are required to secure continuous improvement in the 

exercise of their functions by identifying their own priorities for improvement.  This legal 
requirement is set out in the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

Council Vision
3.2. To strengthen Merthyr Tydfil’s position as the regional centre for the Heads of the 

Valleys, and be a place to be proud of where:

a) People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions
b) People live, work, have a safe, healthy and fulfilled life
c) People visit, enjoy and return

3.3. Our current approach to delivery of Adults Social Services directly and indirectly 
contributes to the priority outcomes set in both the Single Integrated Plan (SIP) and the 
Corporate Plan (CP).  The current strategy is to deliver those but our approach is 
evolving to align with the expectations of the Social Services and Wellbeing Act 2014 
and the Wellbeing of Future Generation Act 2015.

Corporate Plan - Promoting independence 
3.4. The local authority improvement objectives for 2013 to 2017 include the priority areas 

Promoting Independence, Meeting the Needs of Vulnerable Children and Active 
Lifestyles.  These priority areas seek to prioritise effort within the wide range of activities 
to have a strategic focus on early intervention and prevention to achieve the outcomes:

a) People in Merthyr Tydfil will be able to lead independent and fulfilled lives
b) Vulnerable children in Merthyr Tydfil live healthy, safe and fulfilled lives
c) People in Merthyr Tydfil are physically active and as a result have improved health

3.5. This report will focus on the outcome "people in Merthyr Tydfil will be able to lead 
independent and fulfilled lives"

4. WHERE WE WERE

Promoting independence
4.1. In Merthyr Tydfil, outcomes were adequate with timely delivery of housing adaptations 

to help people remain in their own homes for longer and minimal delayed transfers of 
care.  However, there were a comparably low proportion of the adults able to live 

Page 34



independently.  This meant there was a high need for formal packages of social care in 
order to promote independence.

Key Indicators
March 2013
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2013
Wales

Adult population who can live independently 96.1 % 96.8 %
Adult population who cannot live independently 0.52 % 0.56 %
Days taken to deliver a DFG adaptation 182 271
Carers of adults offered an assessment 100 % 86.8 %
Delayed transfers of care for social care reasons 3.35 4.57

5. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

Promoting independence
5.1. By 2017, we want to see an improvement in the proportion of the adult population that 

can live independently and be in the top half of local authorities in Wales.

Key Indicators
March 2016
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2017
Merthyr Tydfil

Adult population who can live independently 96.9 % 96.9 %
Adult population who cannot live independently 0.57 % 0.56 %
Days taken to deliver a DFG adaptation 200 200
Carers of adults offered an assessment 100 % 100 %
Delayed transfers of care for social care reasons 3.43 3.27

Page 35



6. WHERE WE ARE NOW

Reference to Measures
(Full details in Appendix I)

Promoting independence
6.1. In Merthyr Tydfil, outcomes are good with performance projecting to be in line with (or 

better than) our projections for adults who can live independently, adults in residential 
care and for the timeliness of delivering adaptations.

6.2. However, the proportion of carers of adults offered an assessment at 66.2 percent is 
significantly below our expectation (100 percent).  Work taken place during 2015 to both 
re-evaluate the methods used to calculate this performance indicator and help social 
workers record accurate information.

6.3. Delayed transfers of care (4.73) are higher than our baseline and will likely remain 
above our expectation of the Wales median (3.43).  In order to hasten improvement, the 
service has identified the need to improve the hospital discharge process by exploring 
the development of an integrated hospital discharge team (new initiative 8.3).

Key Indicators1
March 2016
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2016
Wales2

Adult population who can live independently 96.9 %
Adult population who cannot live independently 0.53 %
Days taken to deliver a DFG adaptation 184
Carers of adults offered an assessment 66.2 %
Delayed transfers of care for social care reasons 4.73

7. HOW DID WE GET HERE

Reference to Initiatives
(Full details in Appendix II)

7.1. Regional Implementation Plan for Social Services and Wellbeing Act

7.2. Retender Direct Payments Support Service

1 The introduction of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 made significant changes to the 
performance measurement framework for social services.  This means that there will be some amendments to the 
key indicators to align to the new framework during 2016.
2 Wales's data will be available in August 2016.

Page 36



7.3. Implementation of Joint Carer Assessment

Initiatives completed
7.4. Regional Implementation Plan for Social Services and Wellbeing Act

7.5. Implementation of Joint Carer Assessment

Lessons learnt
7.6. The work to improve the recording of carer assessments is having some impact on 

performance; however, in order to accelerate improvement the Head of Adults Services 
will rigorously monitor the offer of carer assessments on a monthly basis (new initiative 
8.4).

7.7. In order to enable people to live independently, the impact to the individual is greater 
and more effective when working in collaboration.

7.8. Our hospital discharge and reablement services can manage prolonged periods of 
pressure on hospital beds.

7.9. An integrated health and social care IT system would significantly improve information 
flow and hospital discharge.

8. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

New initiatives
8.1. Review progress against the Implementation of the SSWB (Wales) Act 2014

8.2. Retender Direct Payments Support Service

8.3. Improve the Hospital Discharge Process

8.4. Establish monthly reporting on carer assessments

9. THE WELLBEING DUTY (SS&WB ACT AND WFG ACT)
9.1. The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act (SSWB) became law in Wales on 01 

May 2014, which changes the way we assess people's needs and the way we deliver 
services to those people, where they will have a stronger voice to decide what care and 
support they receive.

9.2. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (WFG) Act became law in Wales on 29 April 2015, 
which is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of 
Wales.

Page 37



Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty
9.3. Social Services have a regional work programme to implement the changes brought 

about by the SSWB Act.  In addition, Social Services are contributing to the production 
of the wellbeing assessment for the WFG Act.  The wellbeing assessment will inform 
the new strategy for Improving Wellbeing, which will centre on the seven wellbeing 
goals and the five ways of working.

LISA CURTIS-JONES
CHIEF OFFICER: IMPROVING WELLBEING

COUNCILLOR LINDA MATTHEWS
PORTFOLIO: SOCIAL SERVICES

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2015/16
 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2016/17
 Annual Report on Social Services 2015/16
 Service Area Performance Report Cards 2015/16
 Regional Implementation Plan (SS&WB Act)


Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

Page 38



Appendix I Data

TITLE The percentage of carers of adults who were offered an assessment or review 
of their needs in their own right during the year

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2014/15 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2015/16 2015/16

MT 85.4 56.3 48.2 52.6 66.2 66.2 100

Wales 95.6

(-10.1) ( 67 / 119 ) ( 94 / 195 ) ( 163 / 310 ) ( 314 / 474 ) ()

TITLE The percentage of carers of adults who were offered an assessment or review 
of their needs in their own right during the year

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 100 100 85.4 66.2

Wales 86.8 85.8 95.6

Difference (13.2) (14.2) (-10.1) () ()

TITLE The rate of delayed transfers of care for social care reasons per 1,000 
population aged 75 or over  

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2014/15 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2015/16 2015/16

MT 5.02 1.94 3.66 3.66 4.73 4.73 3.43

Wales 4.83

(0.19) ( 9 / 4648 ) ( 17 / 4648 ) ( 17 / 4648 ) ( 22 / 4648 ) ()

TITLE The rate of delayed transfers of care for social care reasons per 1,000 
population aged 75 or over  

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 3.35 6.38 5.02 4.73

Wales 4.57 4.69 4.83

Difference (-1.22) (1.69) (0.19) () ()

Page 39



TITLE The percentage of the adult population (aged 18 and over) who can live 
independently

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 96.07 96.12 96.69 96.89 96.90

Wales 96.81 96.84 97.00

Difference (-0.64) (-0.74) (-0.31) () ()

TITLE The percentage of the adult population (aged 18 and over) who cannot live 
independently

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 0.52 0.55 0.52 0.53 0.56

Wales 0.56 0.55 0.54

Difference (-0.04) (0.00) (-0.02) () ()

TITLE The average number of calendar days taken to deliver a disabled facilities grant

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 182 190 160 184 200

Wales 271 238 231

Difference (-99) (-48) (-71) () ()

TITLE The number of adult clients (aged 18 and over) in receipt of telecare equipment

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 325 343 371 - - -

Wales

Difference () () () () ()

Page 40



TITLE The number of adult clients (aged 18 and over) who are in receipt of a direct 
payment

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 56 70 78 68 80

Wales

Difference () () () () ()

Page 41



Appendix II Projects

PROJECTS Apr
2014

Jul
2014

Oct
2014

Jan
2015

Apr
2015

Jul
2015

Oct
2015

Jan
2016

Apr
2016

Jul
2016

Oct
2016

Jan
2017

Regional Implementation Plan 6.1

Direct Payments 6.2 8.2

Joint Carer Assessments 6.3

Review Implementation Plan 8.1

Hospital Discharge Process 8.3

Page 42



Back

PROJECT (A) Regional Implementation Plan for Social Services and Wellbeing Act

PROJECT MANAGER Head of Adults Services

DESCRIPTION This project is the Cwm Taff Plan for the implementation of the Social 
Services Wellbeing Wales Act.  The aim of the Cwm Taf Plan aligns to 
the purpose of the Act, which is to give people greater freedom to 
decide the services they need and transform the way social services are 
delivered, promoting people's independence to give them stronger voice 
and control.  There are 14 work streams in the Cwm Taf Plan and the 
Council will contribute to a number of these work streams.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) To have a clear plan to implement the Social Services Wellbeing Wales 
Act

START DATE 01 May 2014

FINISH DATE 31 March 2016

PROJECT UPDATE 08 June 2016

The Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership Board agreed 
their final Regional Implementation Plan on the 19 October 2015 and 
submitted this plan to the Welsh Government.

Page 43



Back

PROJECT (B) Retender Direct Payments Support Service

PROJECT MANAGER Head of Adults Services

DESCRIPTION The option of direct payment enables individuals to purchase the 
assistance or services that the local authority would otherwise have 
provided.  Direct payments support independent living by enabling 
individuals to make their own decisions and control their own lives.  This 
project is to explore the market for potential providers to deliver the 
Direct Payments Support Service for residents in Merthyr Tydfil.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) To maintain the options for people to make their own decisions on 
social care provision and have greater control of their own lives

START DATE 01 April 2015

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 08 June 2016

We were unable to retender the Direct Payments Support Service 
during the year.  This is because there was a need to explore 
alternative delivery options.  The initiative remains a priority for the 
service.  We anticipate deliver by March 2017.

Page 44



Back

PROJECT (C) Implementation of Joint Carer Assessment

PROJECT MANAGER Family Support Coordinator

DESCRIPTION Carer assessments are a key element of Social Services Wellbeing 
Wales Act.  This is a multi-agency project to apply a uniform approach 
to the Joint Carers Assessment, which is used currently by a number of 
partners, to be rolled out to all other agencies required to undertake 
assessments.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S)

START DATE 01 April 2015

FINISH DATE 31 March 2016

PROJECT UPDATE 08 June 2016

The work to develop and implement Joint Carer Assessments has 
become part of the regional implementation plan (Assessment and 
Eligibility workstream) for the Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) 
Act.

Page 45



Back

PROJECT (D) Review progress against the Implementation of the SSWB (Wales) Act 
2014

PROJECT MANAGER Head of Adults Services

DESCRIPTION We will review the implementation of the Information, Advice and 
Assistance (IAA) services as offered as part of the Social Services and 
Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014.  This specifically refers to the 
implementation of the "Front Door" services.  The review will ensure the 
model for IAA is working appropriately.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) People have access to good quality, accessible information and advice 
in order that they can make decisions about the type of assistance they 
may need without relying on the local authority.  

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 08 June 2016

The regional implementation plan (Information, Advice and Assistance 
workstream) has an action plan to deliver the Information and Advice 
service.

The workstream has four working groups, which includes a local 
working group for adults and children.  The local working group are 
reviewing the current position of IAA in Merthyr and have an action plan 
to ensure that Merthyr CBC is compliant with the SS&WB Act. 

 We have a 'Future Operating Model' for the future of social services 
provision.  This future model demonstrates an alignment to the 
SS&WB Act because of the focus on preventative services.

 We are developing operational guides for practitioners, which set 
out all key stages of the IAA process (i.e. from initial contact to case 
closure).

 The regional partnership agreed to utilise the online portal 'DEWIS' 
to create a directory of services available in Cwm Taf.

Page 46



Back

PROJECT (E) Improve the Hospital Discharge Process

PROJECT MANAGER Head of Adults Services

DESCRIPTION This project is to improve the hospital discharge process by exploring 
the development of an integrated hospital discharge team.  The aim is 
to support hospital discharge and admission avoidance, develop a 
hybrid workforce and a single point of access for health and social care.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) A reduction in the rate of delayed transfers of care between health and 
social care

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 08 June 2016

This work continues on a regional (Cwm Taf) basis.  The intention is 
that the Intermediate Care Fund will assist with the additional resources 
outlined above.

Page 47



Appendix III

Civic Centre, Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance Report - Choose an item.
Click here to enter text.

10. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

10.1. Click or tap here to enter text.
10.2. Click or tap here to enter text.

11. RECOMMENDATION(S)

11.1. Click or tap here to enter text.
11.2. Click or tap here to enter text.

Date Written Click or tap to enter a date.

Report Author

Service

Committee Date Click or tap to enter a date.

Page 48

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


12. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

National Context
12.1. Click or tap here to enter text.
12.2. Click here to enter text.

Council Vision
12.3. Click or tap here to enter text.
12.4. Click here to enter text.

Corporate Plan - Choose an item.
12.5. Click here to enter text.
12.6. Click here to enter text.

Outcomes
12.7. Click here to enter text.
12.8. Click here to enter text.

Page 49



13. WHERE WE WERE

Topic 1
13.1. Click here to enter text.
13.2. Click here to enter text.

Topic 2
13.3. Click here to enter text.
13.4. Click here to enter text.

14. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

Topic 1
14.1. Click here to enter text.
14.2. Click here to enter text.

Topic 2
14.3. Click here to enter text.
14.4. Click here to enter text.

Page 50



15. WHERE WE ARE NOW

Reference to Measures
(Full details in Appendix I)

Topic 1
15.1. Click here to enter text.
15.2. Click here to enter text.

Topic 2
15.3. Click here to enter text.
15.4. Click here to enter text.

16. HOW DID WE GET HERE

Reference to Initiatives
(Full details in Appendix II)

16.1. Click here to enter text.
16.2. Click here to enter text.
16.3. Click here to enter text.

Initiatives completed
16.4. Click here to enter text.
16.5. Click here to enter text.

Lessons learnt
16.6. Click here to enter text.
16.7. Click here to enter text.

17. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

New 
17.1. Click here to enter text.
17.2. Click here to enter text.

Page 51



18. THE WELLBEING DUTY

18.1. Click here to enter text.
18.2. Click here to enter text.

Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty
18.3. Click here to enter text.
18.4. Click here to enter text.

NAME
TITLE

COUNCILLOR NAME
PORTFOLIO

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)





Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? Choose an item.

Page 52



Appendix I Data

TITLE Click here to enter text.

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2015/16 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2016/17 2016/17

MT

Wales

() () () () () ()

TITLE Click here to enter text.

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2015/16 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2016/17 2016/17

MT

Wales

() () () () () ()

TITLE Click here to enter text.

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT

Wales

Difference () () () () ()

TITLE Click here to enter text.

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT

Wales

Difference () () () () ()

Page 53



Appendix II Initiatives

INITIATIVES Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Project A

Project B

Project C

…

Page 54



PROJECT TITLE Click here to enter text.

PROJECT MANAGER Click here to enter text.

DESCRIPTION Click here to enter text.

SOURCE Click here to enter text.

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Click here to enter text.

START DATE Click here to enter a date.

FINISH DATE Click here to enter a date.

PROJECT UPDATE Click here to enter a date.

Click here to enter text.

PROJECT TITLE Click here to enter text.

PROJECT MANAGER Click here to enter text.

DESCRIPTION Click here to enter text.

SOURCE Click here to enter text.

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Click here to enter text.

START DATE Click here to enter a date.

FINISH DATE Click here to enter a date.

PROJECT UPDATE Click here to enter a date.

Click here to enter text.

PROJECT TITLE Click here to enter text.

PROJECT MANAGER Click here to enter text.

DESCRIPTION Click here to enter text.

SOURCE Click here to enter text.

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Click here to enter text.

START DATE Click here to enter a date.

FINISH DATE Click here to enter a date.

PROJECT UPDATE Click here to enter a date.

Click here to enter text.

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance Report – Corporate Plan
Priority Area 3 Meeting the needs of vulnerable 
children

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
1.1. In Merthyr Tydfil (2013), outcomes were unsatisfactory with a comparably high 

proportion of the child population in need, on the child protection register or children 
looked after by the local authority.

1.2. In Merthyr Tydfil (2015), outcomes for the community for children and young people 
are adequate because local performance shows improvement, with significant 
reductions to the proportions of children in need, children on the child protection 
register and children looked after by the local authority.

1.3. Our ambition is for outcomes for children to be good by 2017.  In order to achieve good 
we need to have effective early intervention and preventative services that help safely 
reduce the levels of children in need, looked after children, and children on the child 
protection register.

Date Written 10 June 2016

Report Author Ewan McWilliams

Service Performance

Committee Date 28 June 2016

Page 57

Agenda Item 5

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


2. RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.1. The judgements and evaluations are noted and debated

2.2. Feedback and comments on the new Scrutiny Performance Report template are 
provided on the day

3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

National Context
3.1. All local authorities in Wales are required to secure continuous improvement in the 

exercise of their functions by identifying their own priorities for improvement.  This legal 
requirement is set out in the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

Council Vision
3.2. To strengthen Merthyr Tydfil’s position as the regional centre for the Heads of the 

Valleys, and be a place to be proud of where:

a) People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions
b) People live, work, have a safe, healthy and fulfilled life
c) People visit, enjoy and return

3.3. Our current approach to delivery of Children's Social Services directly and indirectly 
contributes to the priority outcomes set in both the Single Integrated Plan (SIP) and the 
Corporate Plan (CP).  The current strategy is to deliver those but our approach is 
evolving to align with the expectations of the Social Services and Wellbeing Act 2014 
and the Wellbeing of Future Generation Act 2015.

Corporate Plan - Meeting the needs of vulnerable children
3.4. The local authority improvement objectives for 2013 to 2017 include the priority areas 

Promoting Independence, Meeting the Needs of Vulnerable Children and Active 
Lifestyles.  These priority areas seek to prioritise effort within the wide range of activities 
to have a strategic focus on early intervention and prevention to achieve the outcomes:

a) People in Merthyr Tydfil will be able to lead independent and fulfilled lives
b) Vulnerable children in Merthyr Tydfil live healthy, safe and fulfilled lives
c) People in Merthyr Tydfil are physically active and as a result have improved health

3.5. This report will focus on the outcome "vulnerable children in Merthyr Tydfil live 
healthy, safe and fulfilled lives"

Page 58



4. WHERE WE WERE

Meeting the needs of vulnerable children
4.1. In Merthyr Tydfil, outcomes were unsatisfactory with a comparably high proportion of 

the child population in need, on the child protection register or children looked after by 
the local authority.

4.2. Local delivery of the early intervention and prevention programme (Flying Start) shown 
positive results in its first year.

Key Indicators
March 2013
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2013
Wales

Children in need per 10,000 child population 460 316
Children on the CPR per 10,000 child population 80.0 38.0
Children looked after per 10,000 child population 144 91.6
Children fully immunised at their fourth birthday 78.9 % 78.1 %
Children who reach/exceed their SOG milestones 58.9 % 55.0 %
Children looked after with three or more placements 8.33 % 9.54 %

5. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

Meeting the needs of vulnerable children
5.1. By 2017, we want to have effective early intervention and preventative services that 

help reduce the levels of children in need, looked after children, and children on the 
child protection register, which are currently among the highest in Wales.

Key Indicators
March 2016
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2017
Merthyr Tydfil

Children in need per 10,000 child population 400 370
Children on the CPR per 10,000 child population 55 45
Children looked after per 10,000 child population 120 110
Children fully immunised at their fourth birthday 87.5 % 88.4 %
Children who reach/exceed their SOG milestones 55.0 % 55.0 %
Children looked after with three or more placements 8.85 % 8.80 %

Page 59



6. WHERE WE ARE NOW

Reference to Measures
(Full details in Appendix I)

Meeting the needs of vulnerable children
6.1. The current position of outcomes for the community for children and young people is 

adequate because local performance shows improvement, with significant reductions to 
the proportions of children in need, children on the child protection register and children 
looked after by the local authority.

6.2. The introduction of a Looked After Children (LAC) Prevention Strategy and success of 
early intervention and prevention provision services, has been an important contribution 
to controlling the escalation of children in need and reducing the numbers of children on 
the child protection register and those who are looked after by the local authority.

6.3. There has been a significant contribution from services such as the Enhanced Children 
in Need (ECIN) service, Multiple Intervention Assistance (MIA) and the development of 
closer links with families.

6.4. Despite the reductions, the proportions of children in need remain high when compared 
within Wales so the service has planned to develop and expand Enhanced Children in 
Need (ECIN) Service (new initiative 8.1).

6.5. The provision of Flying Start services is seeing positive results, with the children in 
Flying Start areas achieving above average with their Schedule of Growing (SOG) 
milestones and immunisations.

6.6. There has been an increase in the proportion of looked after children (LAC) with three 
or more placements (9.2 percent) during the year, which will likely remain above our 
expectation for the Wales median (8.85 percent).

Key Indicators
March 2015
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2015
Wales

Children in need per 10,000 child population 428 307
Children on the CPR per 10,000 child population 68.6 36.6
Children looked after per 10,000 child population 129 87.2
Children fully immunised at their fourth birthday 88.4 % 82.7 %
Children who reach/exceed their SOG milestones 56.7 % 52.7 %
Children looked after with three or more placements 9.20 % (2016)

Page 60



7. HOW DID WE GET HERE

Reference to Initiatives
(Full details in Appendix II)

7.1. Deliver the Flying Start Programme

7.2. Further develop enhanced Children in Need services Merthyr Tydfil Family Centre

7.3. Prepare a Looked After Children Preventative Strategy

Initiatives completed
7.4. Annual delivery of the Flying Start Programme

7.5. Develop enhanced Children in Need services Merthyr Tydfil Family Centre

7.6. Looked After Children Preventative Strategy

Lessons learnt
7.7. In order to ensure the children and young people we look after feel safe and secure, we 

ask them:

a) how they feel about where they live, and
b) how they feel about the people they live with

7.8. They have told us that overall, they felt happy, settled, well cared for and supported in 
their placement.  Where young people told us they were not happy, this was most often 
due to the arrangements for seeing family and friends, or where there had been 
changes to where they lived.

8. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

New initiatives
8.1. Further develop and expand Enhanced Children in Need (ECIN) Service

8.2. Improve practitioner tools to make judgements for children at risk of abuse or neglect

8.3. Deliver an effective Information, Advice and Assistance (IAA) Service

8.4. Continue the work of the Looked After Children Prevention Strategy

Page 61



9. THE WELLBEING DUTY (SS&WB ACT AND WFG ACT)
9.1. The Social Services and Wellbeing (SSWB) Act became law in Wales on 01 May 2014, 

which changes the way we assess people's needs and the way we deliver services to 
those people, where they will have a stronger voice to decide what care and support 
they receive.

9.2. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (WFG) Act became law in Wales on 29 April 2015, 
which is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of 
Wales.

Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty
9.3. Social Services have a regional work programme to implement the changes brought 

about by the SSWB Act.  In addition, Social Services are contributing to the production 
of the wellbeing assessment for the WFG Act.  The wellbeing assessment will inform 
the new strategy for Improving Wellbeing, which will centre on the seven wellbeing 
goals and the five ways of working.

LISA CURTIS-JONES
CHIEF OFFICER: IMPROVING WELLBEING

COUNCILLOR LINDA MATTHEWS
PORTFOLIO: SOCIAL SERVICES

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2015/16
 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2016/17
 Annual Report on Social Services 2015/16
 Service Area Performance Report Cards 2015/16

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

Page 62



Appendix I Data

TITLE The rate of children in need per 10,000 population aged under 18

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 460 493 428 370

Wales 316 320 307

(144) (173) (121) () ()

TITLE The rate of children on the child protection register per 10,000 population aged 
under 18

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 80 88 69 45

Wales 38 38 37

(42) (50) (32) () ()

TITLE The rate of children looked after per 10,000 population aged under 18

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 144 136 129 110

Wales 92 90 87

(52) (46) (42) () ()

TITLE The percentage of children in Flying Start areas that are fully immunised at their 
fourth birthday

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 85.0 83.2 91.0 88.4

Wales 76.3 78.1 82.7

(8.7) (5.1) (7.3) () ()

Page 63



TITLE The percentage of children in Flying Start at age 35 to 37 months who reach or 
exceed their SOG milestones

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 58.9 54.8 56.7 55.0

Wales 55.0 54.7 52.7

(3.9) (0.1) (4.0) () ()

TITLE The percentage of children looked after on 31 March who have had three or 
more placements during the year

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2014/15 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2015/16 2015/16

MT 6.1 4.46 6.58 5.67 9.22 9.22 8.85

Wales 9.0

(-2.9) ( 7 / 157 ) ( 10 / 152 ) ( 8 / 141 ) ( 13 / 141 ) ()

Page 64



Appendix II Projects

PROJECTS Apr
2014

Jul
2014

Oct
2014

Jan
2015

Apr
2015

Jul
2015

Oct
2015

Jan
2016

Apr
2016

Jul
2016

Oct
2016

Jan
2017

Flying Start 6.1

Enhanced CIN 6.2 8.1

LAC Strategy 6.3

Practitioner Tools 8.2

IAA Service 8.3

Page 65



Back

PROJECT (A) Deliver the Flying Start Programme

PROJECT MANAGER Youth Service Manager

DESCRIPTION This is a project to progress and expand the delivery of the national 
Flying Start Programme in Merthyr Tydfil.  The support will focus on 
those families and children in the most deprived areas, to support those 
families with targeted early years support enabling those children a 
greater chance to live healthy, safe and fulfilled lives.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Positive outcomes for children and their families, specifically
 Reaching or exceeding developmental norms, and
 Fully immunised children

START DATE 01 April 2014

FINISH DATE 31 March 2016

PROJECT UPDATE 31 March 2016

The significant demand for the programme (over capped) is a significant 
challenge for the local authority; however, the programme is achieving 
positive results for children and families.

Page 66



Back

PROJECT (B) Further develop enhanced Children in Need services Merthyr Tydfil 
Family Centre

PROJECT MANAGER Head of Children's Services

DESCRIPTION The purpose of these services are to work with families at an earlier 
stage on a voluntary basis, in order to bring about changes in parenting 
skills and help families put in place strategies to prevent problems 
escalating and entering the child protection or Looked After Children 
arenas.  This will involve:
 Close work with the family and other agencies to develop individual 

action plans for the family and professionals with clear outcome 
goals, and

 Outline what needs to happen to achieve the outcomes, with shared 
responsibility between the family and key professionals and how we 
will measure progress with timescales.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) A reduction in the numbers of children escalating to child protection of 
looked after children status.

START DATE 01 April 2015

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 31 March 2016

A priority for the local authority is to meet the challenge of early 
intervention and prevention.  The ECIN service is already making good 
progress addressing this.  The continuation of the ECIN service will 
focus on developing preventative approaches and building strong 
partnerships with other services such as the Multiple Intervention 
Assistance (MIA) and Families First.  Improved links to services such as 
Adult Community Learning and Communities First will also be 
considered to support families to access learning and employment 
opportunities in line with the wellbeing statements.

Now in its second year of operation, the ECIN service has continued to 
make good progress in developing and implementing new practices, 
tools and enhancing partnership arrangements; with the aim of 
providing more specialist early intervention to prevent escalation of 
need and ensuring that only those children for whom there is no 
alternative become looked after by the Local Authority.   

Next steps:
 Identify the resources required for the work
 Review the remit of the ECIN Service so that more families can 

benefit from the results achieved by this service

Page 67



Back

PROJECT (C) Prepare a Looked After Children Preventative Strategy

PROJECT MANAGER Head of Children's Social Services

DESCRIPTION The expansion of preventative services at Merthyr Tydfil Family Centre 
will enable closer work with the Early Intervention Team and 
preventative work with families.  This strategy will look at prevention 
work and map opportunities to reduce (safely) the numbers of Looked 
After Children in Merthyr Tydfil.  This will involve work with children and 
parent, individual direct work, and outreach work within the family home 
to provide help and support to families at the earliest opportunity.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) A reduction in the numbers of looked after children in Merthyr Tydfil

START DATE 01 April 2015

FINISH DATE 31 March 2016

PROJECT UPDATE 31 March 2016

A LAC Strategy was developed with colleagues in RCT to ensuring that 
families in Merthyr Tydfil receive the advice, assistance, help at the right 
time and resolve the difficulties that lead to young people becoming 
looked after.  The LAC Strategy has seen some results with a reducing 
number of looked after children, which has been attributable to:

 Outcome focussed planning with families
 Promoting family alternatives to being looked after where it is safe to 

do so

Page 68



Back

PROJECT (D) Improve practitioner tools for making sound judgements when children 
are at risk of abuse or neglect

PROJECT MANAGER Head of Children's Services

DESCRIPTION In order to support practitioners make sound judgements when making 
decisions about safeguarding children and young people, we will 
research the risk assessment and management tools that are available 
across the country and develop a 'best fit for practice' tool and guidance 
for Merthyr Tydfil.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S)

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 21 June 2016

The IRO carrying out this work is presently researching the tools and 
methods adopted by other authorities to inform an interim update in 
July.

Page 69



Back

PROJECT (E) Deliver an effective Information, Advice and Assistance (IAA) Service 
for Children and their Families

PROJECT MANAGER Head of Children's Services

DESCRIPTION The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act requires us to provide 
an Information, Advice and Assistance (IAA) service.  The IAA service 
will be a preventative and early intervention service, which will help 
manage demand by preventing need and risk from escalating to 
specialist services.  In order to deliver an effective IAA service, we will 
improve the quality and accessibility of information for children and their 
families about services that are available to ensure they have the right 
help at the right time.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) High proportions of children who report that they had the right 
information or advice when they needed it

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 31 May 2016

A regional plan has been developed outlining the actions required to 
implement an Information and Advice service. The regional work stream 
incorporates 4 working groups - this includes a local working group for 
adults and children.  The local working group are reviewing the current 
position of IAA in Merthyr and have developed an action plan to ensure 
that Merthyr CBC is compliant with the requirements of the Act. 

A ‘Future Operating Model’ has been developed which shows how 
Social Services will work going forward.  This change in approach 
demonstrates an alignment to the ‘Act’ and has an increased focus on 
preventative working.

At an operational level, guides are being developed for practitioners that 
set out all key stages of the IAA process i.e. from initial contact to case 
closure.
 
The regional partnership has agreed the utilisation of DEWIS as the 
vehicle to support the development of a Service Directory which will 
provide information regarding services available across the region.

Page 70



Civic Centre, Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance Report – Corporate Plan
Priority Area 4 Active lifestyles

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
1.1. In Merthyr Tydfil (2013), outcomes were unsatisfactory.  There were high participation 

rates in physical activity and free swim sessions; however, Merthyr Tydfil had the 
highest proportion of adult who reported being overweight or obese and low 
proportions of children and adults who are "Hooked on Sport".

1.2. In Merthyr Tydfil (2015), outcomes are adequate.  There have been improvements to 
the children (boys and girls) who are "Hooked on Sport".  Overall, there was a slight 
improvement to adults who are "Hooked on Sport"; however, this was compromised by 
a decline in women who are "Hooked on Sport".  In addition, the number of visits to 
local authority sport and leisure centres where the visitor will be participating in 
physical activity has declined for the fourth consecutive year.

1.3. Our ambition is for outcomes for the health and wellbeing of residents in Merthyr Tydfil 
to be good by 2017.  In order to achieve good we need to sustain levels of exercise 
and physical activity to be in the top half of local authorities in Wales.

Date Written 10 June 2016

Report Author Ewan McWilliams

Service Performance

Committee Date 28 June 2016

Page 71

Agenda Item 6

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


2. RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.1. The judgements and evaluations are noted and debated

2.2. Feedback and comments on the new Scrutiny Performance Report template are 
provided on the day

3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

National Context
3.1. All local authorities in Wales are required to secure continuous improvement in the 

exercise of their functions by identifying their own priorities for improvement.  This legal 
requirement is set out in the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

Council Vision
3.2. To strengthen Merthyr Tydfil’s position as the regional centre for the Heads of the 

Valleys, and be a place to be proud of where:

a) People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions
b) People live, work, have a safe, healthy and fulfilled life
c) People visit, enjoy and return

Corporate Plan - Active lifestyles
3.3. The local authority improvement objectives for 2013 to 2017 include the priority areas 

Promoting Independence, Meeting the Needs of Vulnerable Children and Active 
Lifestyles.  These priority areas seek to prioritise effort within the wide range of activities 
to have a strategic focus on early intervention and prevention to achieve the outcomes:

a) People in Merthyr Tydfil will be able to lead independent and fulfilled lives
b) Vulnerable children in Merthyr Tydfil live healthy, safe and fulfilled lives
c) People in Merthyr Tydfil are physically active and as a result have improved 

health

3.4. There are three principal areas considered within the outcome "people in Merthyr 
Tydfil are physically active and as a result have improved health"

a) develop and maintain a skilled and passionate workforce
b) development of community sport, and
c) bridging the equalities gap to include disability, women and girls opportunities

Page 72



4. WHERE WE WERE
Active lifestyles

4.1. In Merthyr Tydfil (2013), outcomes were unsatisfactory.  There was high participation 
in free swimming and physical activity at local authority leisure centres and sports 
facilities; however, Merthyr Tydfil had the highest proportion of adult who reported being 
overweight or obese and low proportions of children and adults who were "Hooked on 
Sport".

4.2. There was an imbalance between boys and girls who are "Hooked on Sport" and men 
and women who are "Hooked on Sport" with lower proportions of girls and women who 
are "Hooked on Sport".

4.3. The Welsh Government announced its ambition to have every child (age eleven) able to 
swim by 2018 in Wales.  Local delivery of the "learn to swim" initiative in Merthyr Tydfil 
was able to achieve 72 percent of children able to swim by age eleven (rank 11 in 
Wales).

4.4. The provision of opportunity for free swimming in Merthyr Tydfil was high, which was 
able to achieve high participation rates, especially by girls and women.  Both groups 
saw higher participation that boys and men.

Key Indicators
March 2013
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2013
Wales

Children who are Hooked on Sport 32.5 % rank 22 40.1 %
- Boys 37.1 % rank 22 44.0 %
- Girls 27.7 % rank 22 36.0 %

Adults who are Hooked on Sport1 35.9 % rank 17 38.8 %
- Men 44.6 % rank 12 45.6 %
- Women 27.7 % rank 18 32.3 %

Children (year 11) who can swim 72.0 % rank 11 74.0 %
Adults reported as being overweight or obese 65.2 % rank 22 50.0 %
Visits to leisure centres per 1000 population 9,816 rank 7 8,856
Free public swims by those aged 60 and over 1,249 rank 2 886

- Male 1,132 rank 3 1,013
- Female 1,349 rank 2 778

Free public swims by those aged 16 and under 1,219 rank 2 709
- Boys 1,162 rank 2 697
- Girls 1,280 rank 2 723

1 The adults who are "Hooked on Sport" replace the adults who exercise 5 times per week measure as a national 
indicator (2012 data).

Page 73



5. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

Active lifestyles
5.1. By 2017, we want sustainable levels of exercise and physical activity and have positive 

improvement in the health and wellbeing of residents in Merthyr Tydfil.

Key Indicators
March 2016
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2017
Merthyr Tydfil

Children who are Hooked on Sport 40.1% 56.0 %2

- Boys 43.6% 56.0 %2

- Girls 36% 56.0 %2

Adults who are Hooked on Sport 38.7% 41.0 %
- Men 45.6% 51.0 %
- Women 32.3% 36.0 %

Children (year 11) who can swim 79.0% 81.0 %
Adults reported as being overweight or obese Reduce Reduce
Visits to leisure centres per 1000 population 9,000 9,000
Free public swims by those aged 60 and over 1,300 1,100

- Male 1,300 1,100
- Female 1,300 1,100

Free public swims by those aged 16 and under 1,600 556
- Boys 1,600 556
- Girls 1,600 556

5.2. The targets for free swimming for those aged 16 and under has been reduced due to 
the change of emphasis by Welsh Government who wish to focus resources on 
structured swimming lessons and addressing inequalities.  This has meant that the 
number of hours the pools will open for free swimming for children aged 16 and under 
has been reduced to 1 hour per pool per day during school holidays (i.e. 14 hours per 
week).  Previously, the pools were available for free swimming all day during school 
holidays (i.e. 116.5 hours per week).

2 October 2017

Page 74



6. WHERE WE ARE NOW

Reference to Measures
(Full details in Appendix I)

Key Indicators
March 2016
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2016
Wales

Children who are Hooked on Sport 48.1 % rank 13 48.0 %
- Boys 48.4 % rank 18 51.5 %
- Girls 47.7 % rank 5 44.4 %

Adults who are Hooked on Sport3 36.2 % rank 20 40.5 %
- Men 50.7 % rank 5 46.3 %
- Women 22.5 % rank 22 35.1 %

Children (year 11) who can swim 79.0 % rank 9 75.0 %
Adults reported as being overweight or obese4 69.0 % rank 22 59.0 %
Visits to leisure centres per 1000 population 8,594 n/a n/a
Free public swims by those aged 60 and over 1,0395 rank 3 793

- Male 1,0394 rank 6 892
- Female 7144 rank 4 588

Free public swims by those aged 16 and under 1,5214 rank 1 419
- Boys 1,6514 rank 1 396
- Girls 1,3834 rank 1 443

Active lifestyles
6.1. In Merthyr Tydfil, outcomes are adequate.  There have been significant improvements 

to the children (boys and girls) who are "Hooked on Sport".  Performance is in line with 
Wales and the gap between boys and girls has reduced from 9.4 percent (2013) to 0.7 
percent (2015).  Participation in sports by girls in Merthyr Tydfil has also improved from 
27.7 percent of girls Hooked on Sports in 2013 to 47.7 percent in 2015 (rank fifth in 
Wales).

6.2. Overall, there was a slight improvement to the adults who are "Hooked on Sport".  The 
impact of an increasing proportion of men Hooked on Sport (now fifth in Wales) was 
countered by a decline in the proportion of women who are Hooked on Sport (now 
lowest in Wales).  It is unclear why there was a significant decline in women who are 
"Hooked on Sport".  In order to improve our understanding the service has identified the 
need to use data to interrogate the story behind performance and understand impact 
and inform actions and planning (new area for development 8.2 and 8.3)

3 Active Adults Survey 2014, released 15 February 2016
4 The data is for 2014/15 as there was no National Survey in 2015/16; it will restart in 2016/17 covering a wider 
range of topics.
5 The free swim data is up until January 2016 and will increase again before March 2016.

Page 75



6.3. The number of visits to local authority sport and leisure centres where the visitor will be 
participating in physical activity has declined for the fourth consecutive year and is 
below our expectation.  Levels of participation in Merthyr Tydfil are now likely to be 
below the Wales average and below our expectation (9,000).  The reasons for the 
reduction include:

a) Data prior to 2012 did not accurately follow the standard calculation for the 
measure.  From 2012, the corrected data now shows an accurate position for 
Merthyr Tydfil.

b) The Community Asset Transfer of some facilities meant that their usage figures no 
longer contribute to the measure.

c) In 2015, four new private fitness facilities opened in Merthyr Tydfil, which is having 
an impact on attendance at local authority and Leisure Trust facilities.

d) Since the creation of the Leisure Trust on 01 April 2015, the return for the year 
2015/16 has shown a 4.36 percent decrease in usage over the year equating to 
over 20,400 visits compared to 2014/15.

6.4. There was an increase in children who can swim at the end of Key Stage 2 from 72 
percent in 2013 to 79 percent in 2016.  This also shows Merthyr Tydfil moving from 
eleventh in Wales to ninth in Wales.

6.5. In Merthyr Tydfil, historic participation in free swims was significantly above the Wales 
average and participation by women and girls was greater than men and boys.  The 
latest information for participation by adults aged 60 and over (1,064) indicates that we 
are unlikely to meet our expectation (1,300).  In addition, the data shows a significant 
shift with reductions in both women (aged 60+) and girls (aged 16 and under) 
participation in free swims.  It is unclear why there was a significant decline in women 
and girls participation in free swims.  In order to improve our understanding the service 
has identified the need to use data to interrogate the story behind performance and 
understand impact and inform actions and planning (new area for development 8.1)

6.6. The reduction in participation in free swims has been greatest among women aged 60 
and over.  The gender data shows a widening gap across Wales with 13 of the 22 local 
authorities showing a reduction in female swimmers.

6.7. The Wales Audit Office recently reviewed progress in relation to the Active Lifestyles 
corporate priority.  Their report identified mixed performance and made two proposals 
for improvement:

Page 76



1. The Council reviews its chosen performance measures for the active lifestyles 
priority area to ensure that they provide a comprehensive picture of performance.

2. The Council improves the availability and reliability of its performance data in order 
to understand the story behind its performance and to enable it to make timely 
interventions to improve performance.

7. HOW DID WE GET HERE

Reference to Initiatives
(Full details in Appendix II)

7.1. Delivery of the Active Merthyr Tydfil Local Sport Plan during 2015/16

Initiatives completed
7.2. Annual delivery of Active Merthyr Tydfil Local Sport Plan

Key successes
7.3. Comments from Sports Wales on the delivery of sporting activity and developments in 

Merthyr Tydfil include:

a) The team exceeded their "Hooked on Sport" target of 40.1 percent by achieving 
48.1 percent in this year's School Sport Survey, an increase of 15 percent from 
2013.

b) A significant increase in terms of the proportion of females "Hooked on Sport", 
increasing to 47 percent (2015) from 24 percent (2013).

c) The Community Chest, for the first time since the introduction of the scheme, is on 
course to invest the whole allocation into new and quality projects.

d) The Strategic Board (LAPA) is more effective and meetings are more productive 
with actions taken from the meeting resulting in tangible outcomes.

e) There has been improved reporting.  The 12-month report includes observations 
from the team identifying successes and suggestions for improvement in future 
planning.

f) Changes to the FSI (Free Swim Initiative) programme and a review of delivery of 
structured activities for juniors had a limited negative impact on splash but saw an 
increase of over 700 swims.

Key challenges
7.4. The Council and the sports development team are relatively small contributors to the 

wider physical activity agenda in Merthyr Tydfil.

Page 77



7.5. The Council is largely reliant on the Leisure Trust and other providers to drive 
improvement in adult participation.  The Council is challenging the Leisure Trust to 
identify the steps they intend to take to improve adult participation.  The Council also 
works with a number of clubs and other providers to improve participation through 
“Community Chest” monies.

7.6. The Sport Development Team has been successful commissioning the Merthyr Girls 
Can initiative (http://merthyrgirlscan.com/).  The challenge is to start improving the 
women's participation in sports.  Merthyr Girls Can is a campaign developed by Active 
Merthyr Tydfil and a range of partner organisations.  It is a celebration of active women 
across Merthyr and aims to display the range of sport and physical activity opportunities 
available locally, which include:

a) Rugby
b) Netball
c) Bootyshakers
d) Aerobics
e) Hockey 

Lessons learnt
7.7. There has been significant learning on the analysis and use of the School Sport Survey 

data, identifying the need to target approaches to tackle the gender gap.  The result is 
interventions such as M Girls, in Cyfarthfa and Afon Taf High Schools.

7.8. The sports development team are prioritising resources more effectively to focus on 
interventions that will make the biggest difference to sports participation.  This work is 
long-term, transforming children into adults who have the skills, confidence and passion 
to take part in sport for life.

7.9. The service needs to be able to provide a clear position on the contribution of the local 
authority to increasing physical activity via participation in sport; explaining and 
promoting how sport can support other agencies deliver their outcomes and priorities.

8. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

Areas for development
8.1. Free Swimming Initiative: scrutiny of data and quality of reporting
8.2. Use data effectively to interrogate the story behind its performance
8.3. Better use of data to understand impact and inform actions and planning
8.4. Meaningful target setting

Page 78

http://merthyrgirlscan.com/


8.5. Clarity of roles within the team
8.6. Focus on those things that will make the biggest difference
8.7. Seeing a clear link from individuals' work plans through to key outcomes of plan
8.8. Development and retention of a quality and relevant workforce
8.9. Challenge and support the Leisure Trust to improve performance and participation
8.10. Review the performance measures for the active lifestyles corporate priority

New initiatives
8.11. Deliver the Active Merthyr Tydfil Plan 2017

a) Community Sports
b) Addressing inequalities
c) Young ambassadors

8.12. Disability Sport Wales Insport Silver Standard

9. THE WELLBEING DUTY (SS&WB ACT AND WFG ACT)
9.1. The Social Services and Wellbeing (SSWB) Act became law in Wales on 01 May 2014, 

which changes the way we assess people's needs and the way we deliver services to 
those people, where they will have a stronger voice to decide what care and support 
they receive.

9.2. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (WFG) Act became law in Wales on 29 April 2015, 
which is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of 
Wales.

Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty
9.3. Long term and prevention: the work currently in development by the sports 

development team involves working with children as young as 12 months.  This work 
takes place in traditional settings like leisure centre and non-traditional settings such as 
libraries and pre-school provision.  The work in the non-traditional settings involves 
developing the physical literacy approach of providing the children with fundamental 
movement skills around running, jumping, catching, throwing etc.  The aim is to build 
confidence and social abilities.

9.4. The Sports Development Team aims to build capacity within providers to ensure 
consistent delivery of the physical literacy approach across Merthyr Tydfil.  This involves 
working with schools.  The support to schools includes training and mentoring to 
develop capacity and a consistent pathway through the physical literacy journey, from 
nursery through to primary schools.

9.5. The aim of the Sports Development Team is to get every child "Hooked on Sport" for 
life.  The most important element is "for life", which includes their journey through to 

Page 79



adulthood, maintaining healthy levels of physical activity resulting in a rich sport 
environment, skilled and confident sporting community and a healthy and active 
population.

9.6. Collaboration: delivery of the Active Merthyr Tydfil Plan includes partners from Sport 
Wales, Education, Leisure Trust, Youth Service and Public Health Wales.  The Sports 
Development Team works in collaboration with Sport RCT to improve participation rates 
across the Cwm Taf region.  This work just beginning with Merthyr Tydfil and RCT 
submitting a joint plan to deliver the Sport Wales investment across the region.

9.7. Involvement: Work has taken place in the last 6 months to start reversing the women's 
participation figures, with a campaign called Merthyr Girls Can as referred to above.

LISA CURTIS-JONES
CHIEF OFFICER: IMPROVING WELLBEING

COUNCILLOR LINDA MATTHEWS
PORTFOLIO: SOCIAL SERVICES

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2015/16
 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2016/17
 Sport Wales Annual Report 2015/16
 WAO Improvement Assessment 2015/16 (Waste and Active Lifestyles)
 School Sports Survey
 Active Adults Survey

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

Page 80

http://sport.wales/research--policy/surveys-and-statistics/statistics.aspx
http://sport.wales/research--policy/surveys-and-statistics/statistics.aspx


Appendix I Data

TITLE The percentage of children who are Hooked on Sport

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT All 32.5 48.1 56.0

MT Boys 37.1 48.4 56.0

MT Girls 27.7 47.7 56.0

Wales All 40.1 48.0 5

Wales Boys 44.0 51.5 1

Wales Girls 36.0 44.4 10

TITLE The percentage of adults who are Hooked on Sport

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT All 35.9 36.2 41.0

MT Male 44.6 50.7 51.0

MT Female 27.7 22.5 35.0

Wales All 38.8 40.5 14

Wales Male 45.6 46.3 3

Wales Female 32.3 35.1 15

TITLE The number of visits to local authority sport and leisure centres during the year 
per 1,000 population where the visitor will be participating in physical activity

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 9,816 9,459 9,245 8,594 9,000 7

Wales 8,856 8,954 8,662

(960) (505) (583) () ()

Page 81



TITLE The rate of participations in free public swims by those aged 60 and over

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank
2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT All 1,249 1,507 1,228 911 1,100

MT Male 1,132 1,345 1,485 1,070 1,100

MT Female 1,349 1,647 1,003 771 1,100

Wales All 886 943 847 5

Wales Male 1,013 1,075 968 5

Wales Female 778 829 743 5

TITLE The rate of participations in free public swims by those aged 16 and under

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT All 1,219 2,235 1,853 1,521 556

MT Boys 1,162 2,122 1,759 1,651 556

MT Girls 1,280 2,352 1,954 1,383 556

Wales All 709 681 504 5

Wales Boys 697 671 486 5

Wales Girls 723 691 522 5

TITLE The percentage of children who can swim

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 72.0 77.2 72.0 81.0 9

Wales

() () () () ()

Page 82



TITLE The percentage of adults reported as being overweight or obese (age-
standardised)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 65.2 64.7 63.0 Reduce

Wales 50.0 49.0 48.0

(15.2) (15.7) (15.0) () ()

 

Page 83



Appendix II Projects

PROJECTS Apr
2014

Jul
2014

Oct
2014

Jan
2015

Apr
2015

Jul
2015

Oct
2015

Jan
2016

Apr
2016

Jul
2016

Oct
2016

Jan
2017

Active Merthyr Tydfil Plan 2015 6.1

Active Merthyr Tydfil Plan 2016 8.1

(a) Community Sports 8.2

(b) Addressing inequalities 8.3

(c) Young ambassadors 8.4

Insport Silver Standard 8.5

Page 84



Back

PROJECT (A) Deliver the Active Merthyr Tydfil Local Sport Plan

PROJECT MANAGER Sports Development Manager

DESCRIPTION The Active Merthyr Tydfil Plan is a partnership agreement with Sport 
Wales.  The aim is to encourage residents to become physically active 
at least three times per week.  The Active Merthyr Tydfil Plan is a 
project that includes the on-going delivery of:
 The national Free Swim Initiative
 Play to learn
 Dragon Multi-Skills & Sport
 5 x 60 programmes
In addition, the delivery of this project will continue to develop core 
sports and clubs and increase awareness of inequality in sports 
participation and by bridging the current identified gaps in female 
participation in sport via initiatives such as:
 M Girls
 Us Girls

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The sports programmes within the Active Merthyr Tydfil Plan seek to get 
more people actively participating in sport and exercise.  This supports 
the outcome that people in Merthyr Tydfil will be physically active and 
as a result have improved health by providing a variety of sport and 
physical activity opportunities for all ages from grass roots to elite sport.

START DATE 01 April 2015

FINISH DATE 31 March 2016

PROJECT UPDATE 31 March 2016

Delivery of the 2015/16 plan is complete, with key successes outlined in 
paragraph 7.3.

Page 85



Back

PROJECT (B) Deliver the Active Merthyr Tydfil Plan 2017

PROJECT MANAGER Sports Development Manager

DESCRIPTION The Active Merthyr Tydfil Plan is a partnership agreement with Sport 
Wales.  The aim is to encourage residents to become physically active 
at least three times per week.  The Active Merthyr Tydfil Plan is a 
project that includes the on-going delivery of:
 The national Free Swim Initiative
 Play to learn
 Dragon Multi-Skills & Sport
 5 x 60 programmes
In addition, the delivery of this project will continue to develop core 
sports and clubs and increase awareness of inequality in sports 
participation and by bridging the current identified gaps in female 
participation in sport via initiatives such as:
 M Girls
 Us Girls

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The sports programmes within the Active Merthyr Tydfil Plan seek to get 
more people actively participating in sport and exercise.  This supports 
the outcome that people in Merthyr Tydfil will be physically active and 
as a result have improved health by providing a variety of sport and 
physical activity opportunities for all ages from grass roots to elite sport.

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 08 June 2016

Delivery of the 2016/17 plan is well underway, with contribution from 
schools and the community developing.  Currently, we are delivering all 
planned elements and progress is on track.

Page 86



Back

PROJECT (C) (a) Community Sports

PROJECT MANAGER Sports Development Manager

DESCRIPTION This element of the Active Merthyr Tydfil Plan is the development of 
community sport sessions, which has a focus on increasing participation 
in under-represented areas to target where help will have greatest 
impact.  This will also focus on fundamental movement skills for primary 
schools pupils in the Afon Taf cluster.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The expected benefits include:
 Improvements in the capacity of clubs and other community 

organisation to deliver sport
 A skilled workforce 
 Engagement from all areas of the community

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 08 June 2016

Delivery of the 2016/17 plan is well underway, with contribution from 
schools and the community developing.  Currently, we are delivering all 
planned elements and progress is on track.

Page 87



Back

PROJECT (D) (b) Addressing inequalities

PROJECT MANAGER Sports Development Manager

DESCRIPTION This element of the Active Merthyr Tydfil Plan is delivery of support and 
awareness raising sessions to tackle inequality in sports participation by 
helping remove barriers to participation.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Sport in Merthyr Tydfil will become inclusive, with schools, community 
clubs and other sports organisations increasing their awareness of 
equality issues and adjusting sporting opportunities to create sessions 
open to all.

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 08 June 2016

Delivery of the 2016/17 plan is well underway, with contribution from 
schools and the community developing.  Currently, we are delivering all 
planned elements and progress is on track.

Page 88



Back

PROJECT (E) (c) Young Ambassadors

PROJECT MANAGER Sports Development Manager

DESCRIPTION This element of the Active Merthyr Tydfil plan aims to support young 
people develop their leadership and organisation skills to enable them 
to create opportunities and deliver sport sessions, which contributes 
towards the development of a skilled and passionate workforce 
(including sports leaders and volunteers).

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The short-term benefit from this work will include the provision of a 
skilled workforce for schools to deliver physical activity sessions in 
lunchtime sessions.
The long-term benefits are the development of the next generation of 
coaches and club volunteers that have the skills, confidence and 
enthusiasm to deliver the “Hooked on Sport” for life agenda.

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 08 June 2016

Delivery of the 2016/17 plan is well underway, with contribution from 
schools and the community developing.  Currently, we are delivering all 
planned elements and progress is on track.

Page 89



Back

PROJECT (F) Achievement of Disability Sport Wales Insport Silver Standard

PROJECT MANAGER Sports Development Manager

DESCRIPTION The successful attainment of the Insport Silver standard will ensure the 
Council, and its key partners, place service users at the centre of the 
development of sport and physical activity opportunities for disabled 
people in Merthyr Tydfil and increase their participation in activities.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The council and our key partners will be inclusive in our approaches to 
sport.

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 08 June 2016

Preparations are underway to attend the Insport Panel in August 2016.
 The compilation of evidence is progressing well
 The presentation for the panel is nearing completion
 Everything is on track for submission

Page 90



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance for the next scrutiny committee meeting.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The Committee considers its work programme and approve, revise or amend it as 
deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.2 in planning for the next 
meeting.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
3.1 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda. 

3.2 At each meeting the committee will agree the agenda items for their next meeting 
and in preparation may in advance wish to ask itself the following questions.

Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme?
a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan 

and priorities?
b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns?
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest?
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications?

Date Written 21th June 2016
Report Author Scrutiny Section
Service Area Legal & Governance Services
Committee Division Scrutiny 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 28th June 2016

Page 91

Agenda Item 10



e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 
difference and achieve tangible outcomes?

f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 
resources?

Q) What is the specific role of the committee?
           This will depend on the item – for example the role could be:

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department

b. to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose
c. to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue 
d. to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation / review
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item?

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council 

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes.
c. To receive an overview presentation.
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work. 

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the corporate plan / other plan / other strategy.

g. Improvement in service delivery

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome? 
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions.

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information?
Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police,  Health Board etc

Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations?
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting. 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend?
Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 

Page 92



community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc.

3.3 Committees members will be aware that the Council has seven key priorities as per 
the Corporate Plan. These are:- 1) Raising Standards of Attainment; 2) 
Employability;  3) Economic Development;  4) Promoting Active Lifestyles;  5) 
Promoting Independence; 6) Meeting the Needs of Vulnerable Children and 7)  A 
Sustainable Environment.

The seven Council priority areas are delivered through 4 themes, and each of the 4 
Chief Officers has ownership and responsibility for one of these themes. The 4 
themes are:-

 Raising Standards - (Chief Officer for Learning/ Cabinet member for 
Learning) 
Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee

 Improving Wellbeing - (Chief Officer for Social Services / Cabinet member 
for Social Services)
Social Services Scrutiny Committee

 Economic Growth - (Chief Officer for Community Regeneration / Cabinet 
member for Regeneration, Planning and Countryside)
Regeneration, Planning & Countryside Scrutiny Committee

 Sustainable Development - (Chief Officer for Neighbourhood Services / 
Cabinet member for Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection)
Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee

3.4 To reflect the 4 themes as per above in a convenient form, 4 “strategies on a page” 
have been developed and each reflects Measures of Success; Desired Outcomes 
and Strategic Aims and Objectives.

3.5 Much of Scrutiny committee work programme activity is aligned to the delivery of the 
Council’s corporate priorities and the “strategies of a page” can assist scrutiny 
committees in this role. See appendix I for the “strategies of a page”.

3.6 A copy of the Committees work programme is also attached.

Scrutiny Section
MTCBC

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Measures of Success

Raising Standards

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims 

All learners attain at least
the expected standard at all

stages in their education

Vision:

AIM 1: Improve the quality of
leadership including the leadership
of learning and teaching

AIM 2: Improve LA and
commissioned services

Leadership in all schools
is good or better

All members of the
education community

collaborate well in order
to improve the standards
and wellbeing of pupils

Teaching in all schools
is good or better

LA provision improves 
standards of attainment 

and the quality of
leadership and teaching 

in schools

P
age 95



Specific Measurable Outcomes - Measures of Success

Improving Wellbeing

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims & Objectives:

Social Services:
- Children
- Adults
- Safeguarding

We will help people in
Merthyr Tydfil to maximise their
potential, be free from poverty,

be independent and healthy
and to live in supportive and

resilient communities.
People in Merthyr Tydfil 

will be able to lead 
independent and 

fulfilled lives.
Vulnerable children in 

Merthyr Tydfil live 
healthy, safe and fulfilled 

lives.

People in Merthyr Tydfil 
are physically active and 

as a result have 
improved health.

Vision:

P
age 96



Economic	  Growth	  Plan	  
	  
	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   	  Vision	  	  	  	  

Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Business	  Base	  	   Baseline	  
	  (year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Labour	  Market	  	   Baseline	  

(year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   Skills	  	   Baseline	  
(year)	   Target	  	  

Key	  Indicator	  	   Count	  of	  birth	  of	  new	  
enterprises	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Economic	  Ac@vity,	  

Unitary	  Authori@es	  in	  
Wales	  	  

27833	  (2011)	   30000	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Level	  2	  Skills	  	   6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Births	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Average	  Gross	  Weekly	  

Earnings	  	   £477.60	  
(2014)	   £500	   	  	   Indicator	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  level	  2	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  	  	  

6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Deaths	  	   135	  (2013)	   100	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Claimant	  Count	  Levels	  	   1,100	  (Mar	  2015)	   900	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  no	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  

9963	   9000	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Gross	  Disposal	  
Household	  Income	  Per	  
Head	  	  	  

£13,500	   £14000	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	   Unemployment	  Levels	  
16	  +	  	   2000	   1600	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Economic	  InacLvity	  
Levels	  16-‐64	  year	  olds	   7,900	   7,300	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

 

AIM 1: Develop a diverse 
and vibrant business 

base 

	  	  

AIM 2: Create a flexible, 
resilient and responsive 

labour market 	  

 
 

AIM 3:  Increase the 
quality and skills within 
the existing and future 

workforce necessary for 
effective business growth  

	  	  

 
 

AIM 4: Improve and create 
the right infrastructure to 

enable and accelerate 
business growth   

	  	  

Measurable	  Outcomes	  	  

Desired	  Outcomes	  	  

P
age 97



A Sustainable Environment

Vision
People in Merthyr Tydfil 
will live in communities 
that are sustainable, clean 
and energy efficient. 

Waste Management
Energy Management
Environmental Quality  - Cleaning / Fly Tipping / Litter
           - Air Quality
           - Noise

Flood Management
Planning & Countryside
Wildlife & Biodiversity
Parks & Open SpacesSpecific Measurable Outcomes - ‘Scores on Doors’

  - Measure of Success

Strategic Aims & Objectives -

Desired Outcomes -

Creation of more
‘Greener’ jobs

P
age 98



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

b
Committee Social Services Scrutiny Committee

Date / Timing Overarching 
Item

Officer & 
Cabinet 
Member

 (Other) Scrutiny Focus 

Annual Report LCJ, AL, MA, 
LM

Social 
Services Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Annual Council Reporting Framework. The Director of Social 

Services annual statutory report to Welsh Government

28th June 2016

Performance EMcW/LCJ/Cllr L 
Matthews

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:-
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 2, 3 & 4 Reports.  An update on progress implementing 
the Corporate Plan
Performance Board Report – Improving Wellbeing.  A synopsis from the 
Performance Board.
*Appendix = Draft Service Performance Reports.  An update on progress 
implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for 
example activities from the Performance Board challenge.

CTSAB/CTSCB 
Annual Plans 
16/17

Nicola Kingham 
and officers and 
elected member

Social 
services

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  update on the safeguarding board plan. Looking at the 
areas  we have covered and safeguarding priorities

Looked After 
Children 
Strategy 
Implementation

AL & Port. 
Member

Children 
Services

Monitoring, Scrutiny & Challenge: A quarterly update on progress implementing the 
LAC strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges. The strategy is seeking 
a reduction in the number of LAC and CPR over the next few years

20th September 2016

Performance EMcW/LCJ/Cllr L 
Matthews

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:-
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 2, 3 & 4 Reports.  An update on progress implementing 
the Corporate Plan
Service Performance Report (Improving Wellbeing). An update on progress 
implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for 
example activities from the Performance Board challenge.

P
age 99



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

Corporate 
safeguarding 

reference Group 
Update

Alex Beckham 
and portfolio 

member

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:- Reference group set up a year ago and a report to review 
progress and plan drawn up from development sessions.

Annual Report 
on LAC reviews 

and CP 
conferences

Alex Beckham 
and portfolio 

member  

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:- Information on data regards conferences and reviews  and 
current registration status

Learning 
Disabilities 
inspection

MA/LCJ/Cllr 
Matthews

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  An update on inspection.

Annual Report 
on adult 

safeguarding 
processes

Alex Beckham
and portfolio 

member

Social 
Services

Report providing update on adult protection referrals and details as required.

CTSAB/CTSCB 
Annual Reports 

15/16

Nicola Kingham 
and officers and 
elected member

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

Communities 
First – Where 

we were? 
Where we 

going?

Ryan 
Stokes/LMCJ

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:- data from the three areas and updates CF moving forward.1st November 2016

YOS inspection
AL/LCJ/Cllr 
Matthews

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:- findings from inspection

Annual 
Performance 
Evaluation for 

CSSIW Social 
Services

Monitoring & Scrutiny: The CSSIW will be publishing the evaluation report on 30 
October 2016 and wish to present it to this scrutiny committee before 31 December 
2016 

P
age 100



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

2015-2016

Performance EMcW/LCJ/Cllr L 
Matthews

Scrutiny & Challenge:-
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 2, 3 & 4 Reports.  An update on progress implementing 
the Corporate Plan
Service Performance Report (Improving Wellbeing). An update on progress 
implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for 
example activities from the Performance Board challenge.

WCCIS Mark 
Anderton/LCJ/
Cllr Matthews

SS Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Updating scrutiny on new database and links to performance 
– how we will report in future.6th December 2016

Intermediate 
Care Fund(ICF)  

update – 
budgets – 

development of 
the integrated 

health and 
social care team

Mark 
Anderton/LCJ/ 
Cllr Matthews

SS Scrutiny & Challenge:- update on funding and where we are at with the new 
proposal (set up summer 2016) of new team. 

Looked After 
Children 
Strategy 
Implementation

AL/ Cllr LM Children 
Services

Monitoring, Scrutiny & Challenge: A quarterly update on progress implementing the 
LAC strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges. The strategy is seeking 
a reduction in the number of LAC and CPR over the next few years

Dom care 
contract

MA/LCJ/Cllr 
Matthews

SS Scrutiny & Challenge:- update on first quarter of new dom care contract – looking at 
value for money and data. Where we were /where we going?24th January 2017

Budget update Stacey 
Evans/LCJ/Cllr 

Matthews

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Update on budget and looking at areas that may overspend. Look at grant funding 
areas. Eg ICF

P
age 101



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

Performance EMcW/LCJ/Cllr L 
Matthews

Scrutiny & Challenge:-
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 2, 3 & 4 Reports.  An update on progress implementing 
the Corporate Plan
Service Performance Report (Improving Wellbeing). An update on progress 
implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for 
example activities from the Performance Board challenge.

CSSIW report 
action plan 

update

AL/LCJ/MA SS Scrutiny & Challenge:-  At the May meeting CSSIW reported to committee on their 
report. An action plan was needed to address the recommendations in the report. 
This will be the second update, then every six months thereafter.7th March 2017

Review of family 
support services

AL/LMCJ Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Where we were /where we going in future.  Started work august 2016 so this would 
be a review of where we are at. 

Looked After 
Children 
Strategy 
Implementation

AL & Port. 
Member

Children 
Services

Monitoring, Scrutiny & Challenge: A quarterly update on progress implementing the 
LAC strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges. The strategy is seeking 
a reduction in the number of LAC and CPR over the next few years

18th April 2017 CTSAB/CTSCB 
Annual Plans 

17/18

Nicola Kingham Social 
services

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

P
age 102



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

To be confirmed

30th May 2017
To be confirmed

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Annual Report on Social Services 2015/2016
	Annual Report 2015-16 - FINAL

	4 Performance Report - Corporate Plan Priority Area 2: Promoting Independence
	5 Performance Report - Corporate Plan Priority Area 3: Meeting the needs of vulnerable children
	6 Performance Report - Corporate Plan Priority Area 4: Active lifestyles
	10 Forward Work Programme
	strategies on a page
	Social Services Descriptors


